## Molecular analysis of early host cell infection by Trypanosoma cruzi

### Fernando Villalta, M. Nia Madison, Yuliya Y. Kleshchenko, Pius N. Nde, Maria F. Lima

Department of Microbial Pathogenesis and Immune Response, School of Medicine, Meharry Medical College, 1005 Dr. D.B. Todd Jr. Blvd., Nashville, TN 37208-3599

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. T. cruzi molecules involved in invasion
  - 2.1. Mucins
  - 2.2. Trans-sialidases and trans-sialidase like molecules
- 3. Other T. cruzi molecules involved in the infection
  - 3.1. Casein Kinase II substrate (TC1)
  - 3.2. LYT1
  - 3.3. Penetrin
  - 3.4. Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase
  - 3.5. Lectin-like 67-kDa glycoprotein
- 4. T. cruzi proteases
  - 4.1. Prolyl oligopeptidase
  - 4.2. Cruzipain
  - 4.3. Oligopeptidase B
  - 4.4. Metalloproteinases
- 5. Putative Host cell receptors for T. cruzi
  - 5.1. Cytokeratin 18
  - 5.2. p74
  - 5.3. Galectin-3
- 6. Extracellular Matrix
  - 6.1. Laminin gamma-1
  - 6.2. Thrombospondin-1
  - 6.3. Fibronectin
- 7. New genetic tools to study the function of T. cruzi genes in infection
  - 7.1. pTcINDEX expression vector for T. cruzi
  - 7.2. Microarrays
  - 7.3. RNAi
- 8. Cellular responses to early T. cruzi infection
- 9. Other signaling events during T. cruzi invasion
- 10. Future directions
- 11. Acknowledgements
- 12. References

## 1. ABSTRACT

Trypanosoma cruzi, the causative agent of Chagas heart disease, infects heart and other cells leading to cardiac arrest frequently followed by death (1). The disease affects millions of individuals in the Americas and is posing health problems because of blood transmission in the US due to large Latin American immigration (2-3). Since the current drugs present serious side effects and do not cure the chronic infection (4), it is critically important to understand the early process of cellular infection at the molecular and structural levels to design novel inhibitors to block *T. cruzi* infection. In this review, the authors critically analyze the molecular and cellular basis of early T. cruzi infection and discuss the future directions in this area. The candidate T. cruzi invasive genes and host genes involved in the process of early infection are just beginning to be understood. The trypanosome invasive proteins are excellent targets for intervention. The progress made in the cell biology of T. cruzi infection will also facilitate the development of novel cell-based therapies to ameliorate the disease.

# 2. *T. CRUZI* MOLECULES INVOLVED IN INVASION

The surface coat of *T. cruzi* is comprised of mucins, trans-sialidases, trans-sialidase like molecules, polysaccharides and lipids anchored to the outer phospholipid layer of the plasma membrane by glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI), and integral membrane proteins. Some of these surface molecules such as mucins, trans-sialidases, trans-sialidase like molecules, and integral membrane proteins have been implicated in the invasion of mammalian cells. *T. cruzi* proteases and other trypanosome molecules have also been implicated in the infection process.

# 2.1. Mucins

The surface of *T. cruzi* is covered with mucins (5-6), which contribute to host invasion, parasite protection, and to the establishment of persistent infection. Their importance is supported by the fact that 850 mucin-

encoding genes represent 1% of the parasite genome and 6% of all predicted T. cruzi genes. The synchronized expression of a large repertoire of mucins containing variable regions in the mammalian stages of T. cruzi suggests a possible role in hindering the host immune response. Mucins are glycoproteins that contain a large variety of O-linked oligosaccharides. It is thought that mucins act at the interface between the parasite and the host to protect the trypanosome from the innate immunity system of the vector and the mammalian host thereby facilitating the invasion of target cells. In accordance to this notion, it is import to note that mucins were first discovered in mammals, where they serve to protect the digestive and respiratory epithelia (7) and orchestrate interactions between cells expressing mucins and receptors and/or other cellular lectins (7).

The major surface glycoproteins of *T. cruzi* are mucin-like molecules. The core polypeptides of these glycoproteins are only 50-200 amino acids in length, and their sequences are rich in Ser and Thr residues, which are acceptor sites for the addition of O-linked oligosaccharides. Carbohydrates account for up to 60% of the mucin molecular mass, conferring a strong hydrophilic character to the parasite (6, 8-9); their sugar residues may participate in interactions between insect-derived metacyclic forms, blood trypomastigotes and mammalian cells (10-11). The amino acids Cys, Phe, Trp and Tyr, which can alter the physicochemical properties of mucins, underrepresented or absent (12). Their particular size, the absence of Cys-rich multimerization domains and the predicted extended structure, suggest that T. cruzi mucins may be similar to the class of mammalian mucins that are involved in lymphocyte trafficking (7), which would facilitate trypanosome interaction with host cells to promote entry.

To date, the structure of parasite O-linked oligosaccharides has been determined for the epimastigote mucins of five different T. cruzi strains (8, 13-18). Although there are inter-strain variations in these O-linked carbohydrate structures, structural and immunological evidence suggests that the presence of galactofuranose is restricted to strains of one T. cruzi phylogenetic group, group I (18-20). Antibodies to galactofuranose-containing epitopes present in *T. cruzi* mucins inhibit parasite invasion (21). Furthermore, a set of monoclonal antibodies that recognizes a T. cruzi 45-kDa mucin was used to characterize this molecule and study its role in trypanosome adhesion to heart myoblasts (22). The 45-kDa surface mucin is expressed only in invasive trypomastigotes, but not in noninvasive epimastigotes or amastigotes, and is released by the trypanosome in culture medium. The monoclonal antibody B5, that recognizes a critical epitope on the 45 kDa mucin, inhibits the attachment of trypomastigotes to heart myoblasts preventing trypanosome entry, suggesting that this 45-kDa mucin is used by invasive forms of this organism to adhere to heart myoblasts (22). The structure of O-linked oligosaccharides of invasive trypomastigote mucins has not been elucidated and the specific epitopes within these O-linked oligosaccharides that may be involved in host-cell interactions are unknown.

T. cruzi mucins (TcMUC) are generally diverse and are encoded by a complex family of mucin-like genes (23). The groups of repetitive and non-repetitive genes are designated TcMUC I and TcMUC II, respectively. The TcMUC I family presents point mutations, small deletions and insertions focused in a short stretch that is located just after the predicted signal peptide (24).

A characteristic feature of TcMUC II genes is that a number of them are linked in the genome to TS (trans-sialidase) genes (25-26), also implicated in host cell invasion. Due to the fact that polycistronic transcription drives gene expression in trypanosomatids (27), this genomic linkage might play a role in coordinating the expression of the TS and mucin genes that are functionally coupled. Whole-genome analysis has revealed another gene family linked to TcMUC II genes, encoding small variable GPI-anchored surface proteins named MASPs (mucin-associated surface proteins), which present structural similarity to TcMUC II proteins (28). MASP expression also seems to be up-regulated in mammalian stages of *T. cruzi* (29). A *T. cruzi* small mucin-like (TcSMUG) gene family has also been described (30).

Despite their complexity and heterogeneity across different parasite isolates (31), *T. cruzi* mucins can be divided into two major types. A group of mucins is present in the insect stages whereas another is present in the mammalian stages.

Mucins from epimastigotes and culture derivedmetacyclic trypomastigotes ranging from 35–50 kDa have a similar amino acid and carbohydrate make up (8, 21, 31). The GPI anchor of epimastigote and culture derivedmetacyclic trypomastigote mucins is different (14). Differences between GPI anchors in these forms may be important in the regulation of mucin shedding and initial host cellular infection.

This group of mucins protects epimastigotes from proteases present in the intestinal tract of the insect vector (19). Culture derived-metacyclic trypomastigote mucins have additional roles in the attachment and invasion of mammalian host cells. Accordingly, mucins purified from culture derived-metacyclic trypomastigotes, but not from epimastigotes, bind to mammalian cell lines; antibodies directed to their carbohydrate components or core peptides inhibit host-cell invasion (21-22, 32). Moreover, culture derived-metacyclic trypomastigote mucins can trigger Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization in host cells (33), which is associated with early T. cruzi invasion (34). Sialidase treatment of purified mucins enhances mucin attachment to cells and intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization, which correlates with the enhancement of infection by culture derivedmetacyclic trypomastigotes after sialidase treatment (35). This is consistent with previous reports showing that removal of sugar residues from the surface of blood trypomastigotes and insect-derived metacyclic trypomastigotes by other glycosidases enhances T. cruzi infection (10-11). These findings indicate that removal of sialic acid and other sugar residues from mucins inhibit the invasion process of blood trypomastigotes, culture derivedmetacyclic trypomastigotes and insect-derived metacyclic trypomastigotes (10-11).

The mucins from cell-derived trypomastigotes (tGPI-mucins) range in size from 60-200 kDa. They share the sialic-acid-containing epitope Ssp-3, which is important for mammalian-cell attachment and invasion (36). Although little is known about the O-oligosaccharide structure of these mucins, they differ from culture derived insect form mucins in that they present terminal Gal(1,3)Gal epitopes (37). The tGPI, oligosaccharide and peptide regions of these mucins have been characterized (9, 38). In contrast to mucins from cell culture derived insect forms, mucins from mammalian forms contain unsaturated fatty acids at the sn-2 position of the glycerol moiety. This difference may be implicated in their abilities to induce cytokines (9). These GPI anchors may interact with Toll-like receptor 2 on the surface of macrophages to generate cytokines (39), which would facilitate chronicity. The stage-specific GPI-anchor structure of T. cruzi mucins has been documented (39-40) and their role in invasion needs to be determined.

T. cruzi switches from a mucin coat of rather homogeneous polypeptide composition to a highly heterogeneous one when it changes from the insect into the mammalian host. Whether the parasite will use this surface coat switching mechanism to possibly interact with different types of mammalian cells is unknown. Moreover, whether each parasite expresses different TcMUC molecules or different subpopulations of parasites express different subsets of TcMUC genes to attach and enter host cells is also unknown. The presence of a mosaic mucin coat could also allow the trypomastigotes to modulate or evade the mammalian-host immune response to gain entry.

Alternatively, the variable TcMUC apo-mucins of trypomastigotes may function as a large repertoire of ligands that facilitate the attachment and entry into a large variety of cell types and mammalian hosts that this parasite infects. The fact that tGPI-mucins function as ligands is experimentally supported (36) by the fact that mucins bind to galectin-3 (41), a beta-galactosidase binding lectin, which in turn binds to the surface of mammalian cells to mediate parasite attachment leading to entry (41-42). On the other hand, additional evidence suggests that mucin binding to cellular receptors involve their carbohydrate moieties.

### 2.2. Trans-sialidases and trans-sialidase like molecules

Other glycoproteins are also present on the *T. cruzi* surface coat, but in much lower numbers. Of prime importance in the biology of the parasite and host-parasite interactions are the trans-sialidase (TS) molecules and TS-like molecules. TS activity has been postulated to enable *T. cruzi* to elude its lack of *de novo* synthesis of sialic acid (43). The major acceptors of sialic acids are the mucins in *T. cruzi* (6) and sialylation of the surface acceptor molecules is crucial for the viability and propagation of the parasite (7).

TS molecules transfer sialic-acid residues from host glycoconjugates to parasite mucins. TS activity is unique in that it does not use CMP-sialic acid as the

monosaccharide donor, it is located on the parasite surface instead of at the Golgi apparatus, and it is more efficient in transferring rather than hydrolyzing terminal sialic acids between glycoconjugates. In addition to its role in sialicacid salvage, TS and TS-like molecules (anchored to the parasite membrane or shed into the bloodstream) can bind to mammalian cell receptors to mediate trypanosome binding and entry (44-52) as well as to undermine host defense mechanisms (53-54).

There is a large super family of TS genes in T. cruzi, with only 70 members coding for enzymatically active products (44). A second group of 70 genes encode products that, despite being 95% identical to active TSs, are enzymatically inactive due to a mutation in a key Tyr residue. They maintain their ability to bind to sialic acids and terminal galactose residues, indicating a possible role for these molecules in parasite binding to substrates or cell surfaces (44) to mediate infection. A third group contains hundreds of genes and codes for molecules displaying a sialidase-motif signature and an overall 30% homology to active TS (44). Although the crystal structure of T. cruzi TS has been elucidated (55), its validation as a target for the development of new interventions to block infection is complex, due to the number of genes and the fact that TS are not affected by sialidase inhibitors; however, a recent study has shown that an alternative substrate, lactitol, only partially inhibits both parasite sialylation and host-cell infection (56). Whether suicide substrates of sialidases can inhibit both sialylation and the early process of infection is unknown.

The surface associated TS mediate the sialylation of O-linked oligosaccharides of mucins of cell-derived trypomastigotes. After cleavage of its glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor by the action of a phosphatidylinositol-phospholipase C (PI-PLC), TS and TS-like molecules are shed into the bloodstream to upregulate the early infection in phagocytic and nonphagocytic cells (50-51) and to exert other biological effects on several cell types.

The candidate trypomastigote ligands for structural and atomic analysis are TS, TS-like molecules (36, 53, 57), mucins (58), heparin binding protein (59), and surface casein kinase II substrates (60) that bind to nonphagocytic cells, kinases and to extracellular matrix proteins (52-61) and to host cell receptors on nonphagocytic cells in order to invade them (52-57). It is thought that trypanosome trans-sialidases transfer sialic acids to trypanosome mucins and serve as acceptors of sialic acids during infection.

One *T. cruzi* ligand that is expressed in all strains of *T. cruzi* trypomastigotes and is used by the parasite to attach and enter macrophages as well as non-phagocytic cells is the trypomastigote gp83 molecule (50-51). The host surface p74 functions as a receptor for *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand to mediate trypomastigote attachment to host cells leading to entry (47). Since this trypanosome ligand is released from the parasite by the action of a parasite PLC in order to signal macrophages and non-phagocytic cells, special

attention has been given to its description and characterization. Previous reports have shown that the T. cruzi surface gp83 (45, 50-52) is expressed only in invasive trypomastigotes (48), is more expressed in highly than weakly infective trypomastigote clones (46) and that blocking this molecule with anti-gp83 antibodies reduces trypanosome binding and invasion (48). Purified soluble from PLC-treated T. cruzi trypomastigote membranes, binds to myoblasts, fibroblasts and macrophages to mediate trypanosome entry (62). Heart myoblasts display a single class of receptors for the gp83 present at 4 x  $10^4$  per myoblast with a  $K_d$  of 8 nM (62). Monovalent Fab fragments of the mAb 4A4 (4A4 –Fab) specific for the gp83 ligand inhibit its binding to myoblasts. fibroblasts and macrophages, block the trypanosomes from attaching to and entering these cells and neutralize T. cruzi infection in Balb/c mice (62). This is the first demonstration that gp83 is a ligand that T. cruzi uses to attach to phagocytic and non-phagocytic cells to promote entry. Both the mAb 4A4 and polyclonal antibodies specific for r-gp83 are able to immunoprecipitate the membrane gp83 from the trypanosome and the released gp83 (51).

The released gp83 is a GPI anchored membrane glycoprotein cleaved by the trypanosome PLC. It is reasoned that if trypomastigotes use gp83 to bind to heart myoblasts, fibroblasts and macrophages, then 4A4-Fab, which blocks the binding of this molecule to these cells, should inhibit the attachment and internalization of trypomastigotes into host cells. Indeed, 4A4-Fab effectively blocks trypomastigote attachment to heart myoblasts, Vero cell fibroblasts and macrophages in a concentration dependent manner. A significant reduction in trypanosome entry into these cells is detected at 4 hours. 4A4-Fab effectively inhibit trypomastigote binding and internalization into mammalian cells at nanogram amounts, whereas an irrelevant Fab (I-Fab) fails to inhibit binding and internalization of trypanosomes (62). 4A4-Fab neutralizes T. cruzi trypomastigote infection in Balb/c mice. Intravenous (i.v.) injection of 4A4-Fab into Balb/c mice 2 hours before i.v. challenge with a lethal dose of blood trypomastigotes followed by three i.p. doses of 4A4-Fab dramatically reduces parasitemia compared to control mice receiving I-Fab. After 27 days, the mortality of mice receiving I-Fab is 100%, whereas no mortality is observed in the group of mice receiving 4A4-Fab. At the termination of the experiment (118 days) no mortality was observed in these mice. Parasitemia levels and mortality with I-Fab are similar to PBS controls. These results indicate that 4A4-Fab strongly neutralizes the infectivity of T. cruzi in vitro and in vivo by blocking the surface gp83 ligand of invasive forms of this organism (62). Immunization of mice with the r-gp83 ligand significantly protects animals against the challenge with lethal doses of blood trypomastigotes. Thus, the gp83 ligand is a prime target for molecular intervention and is also a candidate for vaccine development against T. cruzi infection. This is the first study that provided direct evidence that T. cruzi uses the surface gp83 as a ligand to bind receptors on myoblasts, fibroblasts and macrophages to mediate trypanosome attachment to these cells and initiate in vitro and in vivo infection.

A subset of the TS super gene family, Tc-85, has also been implicated in cell infection since antibodies to this molecule partially block parasite internalization (63) and the subset binds to laminin (61) and cytokeratin 18 (57). The role of TS in mammalian cell invasion has yet to be fully clarified since opposing results have been reported. On the basis that polyclonal antibodies that block TS activity enhance invasion of host cells by trypomastigotes in vitro, it was proposed that TS negatively modulates T. cruzi infection (64). It was also found that compared to the minor subset of trypomastigotes recognized by anti-TS antibodies (TS+), the TS- population shows enhanced ability to enter host cells. Anti-TS monoclonal antibodies and various cell types and parasite isolates, confirmed the previous results, reinforcing the hypothesis that TS down regulates T. cruzi infection (65). Furthermore, pure TS<sup>+</sup> and TS populations were tested for their abilities to invade cells (66). It was found that TS<sup>+</sup> trypomastigotes are highly invasive, whereas TS parasites are extremely inefficient in invading epithelial cells and fibroblasts. Moreover, addition of TS to non-penetrating TS trypomastigotes convert them to a highly invasive phenotype (66).

Immunocytochemical studies localized TS on the surface of trypomastigotes and associated with the flagellar pockets, suggesting that the enzyme is also secreted (67). The shed acute phase antigen (SAPA), presents TS activity and is secreted in enzyme form (68). Whether the secreted form of TS and the enzyme expressed on the trypomastigote surface act simultaneously during interaction with host cells, or the action of one of them predominates depending on the circumstances, is not clear. Several reports indicate that trypomastigotes release the gp83 ligand to activate the MAP kinase pathway and PKC in the host to promote infection (50-52). Alternatively, after binding of trypomastigotes to target cells through another molecule, the secreted TS may transfer sialic acid from the mammalian cell membrane to parasite mucins. It was suggested that these transference reactions could disrupt the binding of sialoadhesins, allowing the parasites to detach and find a new binding site in order to proceed towards their internalization (69).

It was also suggested that mucins and sialyl residues apparently are not primary requirements for trypomastigote invasion (70), although monoclonal antibodies to sialic acid-containing epitopes inhibit parasite adhesion to host cells (70). On the other hand, the involvement of target cell sialic acids in *T. cruzi* internalization was reported by different groups, using sialic acid-deficient CHO (Lec2) cells. Trypomastigotes enter Lec2 cells to a much lower extent than parental CHO cells, but sialylation by TS restores parasite adhesion and invasion (70-72).

It has been generally accepted that culture derived-metacyclic trypomastigotes function as a model for insect vector-derived metacyclic trypomastigotes. Almost all findings about mucins and TS molecules was performed using epimastigotes and culture-derived metacyclic trypomastigotes, and there is no indication that the same mucins or TS molecules expressed in culture derived-

metacyclic trypomastigotes are also expressed in insectderived metacyclic trypomastigotes, or may be involved in the attachment to mammalian cells leading to entry. Furthermore, it is not known whether the glycosylation of mucins or TS molecules is the same in these two invasive metacyclic forms. However, limited studies performed with insect vector-derived metacyclic trypomastigotes in the infection process support the contention that sugar moieties of mucins and TS molecules regulate the infection of the insect vector borne metacyclic trypomastigotes (10-11, 73-75). The functional differences between mucins and molecules of culture derived-metacyclic trypomastigotes and insect-derived metacyclics are largely unknown. The limiting number of insect derivedmetacyclic trypomastigotes that can be obtained from the insect vector to validate the culture metacyclic model and to study the natural infection at the molecular level continues to pose great challenges in the current functional genomic, proteomic and nanotechnology era.

# 3. OTHER T. CRUZI MOLECULES INVOLVED IN THE INFECTION

## 3.1. Casein Kinase II substrate (TC1)

The cloning and characterization of the first cell surface casein kinase II (CKII) substrate (Tc-1) of *T. cruzi*, expressed only in invasive trypomastigotes, phosphorylated by host cell CKII, and involved in the early process of cellular infection was recently reported (60). Northern blot analysis shows a 4.5-kb transcript that is expressed in invasive trypomastigotes but not in noninvasive epimastigote forms of T. cruzi. Southern blot analysis indicates that Tc-1 is a single-copy gene. Analysis of the translated amino acid sequence indicates that the Tc-1 gene has a putative transmembrane domain with multiple cytoplasmic and extracellular CKII phosphosites. Exogenous human CKII is able to phosphorylate serine residues on both recombinant Tc-1 and Tc-1 of intact trypomastigotes. This phosphorylation is inhibited by the CKII inhibitors heparin and 4.5.6.7.-tetrabromo-2azabenzimidazole (60).

This surface 62-kDa protein is expressed only in infective trypomastigotes and is uniformly distributed on the surface of trypomastigotes. Antibodies to Tc-1 effectively block trypomastigote invasion of host cells and consequently reduce parasite load. Pre-incubation of either trypomastigotes or myoblasts with CKII inhibitors block *T. cruzi* infection.

It is important to note that other intracellular microorganisms such as viruses have exploited the uniqueness of the host's CKII constitutive activity by using CKII to phosphorylate proteins involved in viral infection (76). It is possible that the CKII substrate on the surface of the intracellular protozoan *T. cruzi* may play a similar role in the infection process. CKII's enzymatic activity is always turned on, and its substrates are involved in very essential cell functions including viral infection and cell survival. Basically, cells cannot survive without CKII activity and substrates for the enzyme fall into many critical functional categories including cell cycle regulation, protein synthesis,

metabolic activity, signaling, DNA/RNA synthesis, and viral infection (77).

Tc-1 appears to be the first described transmembrane surface protein of *T. cruzi* involved in *T. cruzi*host cell interactions that leads to infection, since other molecules that are apparently implicated in the infection process are glycosylphosphatidylinositol membrane-anchored molecules, which are released from the trypanosome by action of the trypanosome PLC. The fact that Tc-1 is expressed only in invasive trypomastigotes but not in noninvasive epimastigotes or amastigotes indicates that the Tc-1 gene is developmentally regulated in the cell cycle of parasites. Furthermore, the fact that *T. cruzi* infection is inhibited when Tc-1 is blocked by specific antibodies suggests that the Tc-1 gene may be an invasive gene in the parasite that regulates the pathogenesis of early *T. cruzi* infection.

It is suggested that *T. cruzi* exploits the host CKII to phosphorylate the extracellular domain of Tc-1, which may be important for cellular invasion. The CKII sites in the cytoplasmic region of Tc-1 would be phosphorylated by the parasite's own CKII, which in turn might activate a series of signal cascades that may be important for parasite invasion or parasite biology.

Since there are no homologs of Tc-1 in humans, this gene and its encoded protein could be excellent targets for molecular intervention in Chagas' disease and might lead to the development of novel drugs for chemotherapy. Furthermore, the fact that Tc-1 is highly immunogenic and the fact that antibodies raised against Tc-1 neutralize *T. cruzi* infection of mammalian cells suggest that Tc-1 could also be a candidate for vaccine development.

# 3.2. LYT1

The LYT1 protein of *T. cruzi* is required for efficient *in vitro* infection (78). The LYT1 gene product was characterized and shown to be involved in cell lysis and infectivity. LYT1 is a single-copy gene that encodes a protein involved in a lytic pathway. Mutational analysis demonstrated that deletion of LYT1 results in attenuation of infection, which is associated with diminished hemolytic activity. Reintroduction of LYT1 restores infectivity in null mutants, confirming the critical role of LYT1 in infection.

LYT1 is dispensable in epimastigotes, but LYT1 null parasites are infection deficient, display accelerated in vitro development, and have diminished hemolytic activity at acidic pHs. How one protein influences such seemingly diverse biological processes is unclear. One possibility is that the LYT1 protein is a factor, which regulates the expression of multiple genes encoding proteins of diverse function. Consistent with this idea is the presence of a possible nuclear localization sequence (NLS) that is homologous to the classical NLS of the simian virus 40 large T antigen. Another possibility is suggested by the occurrence of multiple potential 3' splice acceptor sites, which if used, would lead to the expression of different LYT1 protein derivatives. One derivative would carry a possible amino-terminal signal sequence. The second would lack this element as a result of trans splicing within

the protein coding sequence, leading to translation initiation from the ATG codon at position +85 within the protein coding sequence. Consequently, it is possible that two forms of the protein are produced: one secreted, consistent with a role in hemolysis, and a second nuclear, consistent with a role in development (79). Further studies are needed to clarify how LYT1 influences several biological processes in the parasite and during the infection process.

#### 3.3. Penetrin

Another surface molecule of Ttrypomastigotes with affinity for extracellular matrix components is penetrin, a 60 kDa protein that selectively binds to heparin, heparin sulfate and collagen, and promotes fibroblast adhesion and penetration (59). Recombinant penetrin, expressed in Escherichia coli and localized on its surface, induced bacterial attachment to and penetration into Vero cells in a proteoglycan- and collagen-inhibitable manner (59). Assays to evaluate the role of host cell heparin and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans in T. cruzi invasion show that proteoglycan-deficient mutants of Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells are poor targets for trypomastigote penetration (80). Penetrin has not been further characterized and its molecular structure remains unknown.

#### 3.4. Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase

A secreted *T. cruzi* protein with peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase activity susceptible to inhibition by the immunosuppressant FK506 and related drugs was characterized (81). It was shown that the addition of the recombinant protein to simian epithelial or HeLa cells enhances parasite invasion. The monomeric protein has a peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase core encompassing the characteristic rotamase hydrophobic active site, and its mechanism of action may involve triggering of host cell signaling, with or without the contribution of rotamase activity (82). The molecular structure of this enzyme as well as its precise role in parasite infection are unknown.

# 3.5. Lectin-like 67-kDa glycoprotein

A 67 kDa lectin-like glycoprotein, binding to desialylated human erythrocyte membranes in a galactose-dependent manner and recognizing receptors in mouse cardiac tissue and human cardiac aortic endothelium was reported (83). It was also reported that antibodies to the 67-kDa lectin-like molecule inhibit cellular invasion by *T. cruzi* (83). Again, the molecular structure of this trypanosome lectin-like protein is unknown and the precise mechanism by which this molecule participates in the infection process is unknown.

#### 4. T. CRUZI PROTEASES

#### 4.1. Prolyl oligopeptidase

A member of the prolyl oligopeptidase (POP) family of serine proteases, with specificity for human collagen types I and IV, has been identified in cell-free extracts of trypomastigotes, amastigotes and epimastigotes (84-85). The 80 kDa enzyme, denominated POP Tc80, also hydrolyses fibronectin and appears to be implicated in host cell invasion. Selective and irreversible inhibitors of POP Tc80 were found to block trypomastigote entry into non-

phagocytic mammalian cells (85-86). The hydrolytic activity and the ability of several trypomastigote molecules to bind laminin, fibronectin, collagen, heparin, and heparan sulfate may be important for the transit of the parasite through the extracellular matrix towards target cells.

### 4.2. Cruzipain

Cruzipain is the major *T. cruzi* proteinase. It is a gp57/51 cysteine proteinase, which is active in pH ranges of 5 to 7.5. The enzyme is expressed in all developmental forms of different *T. cruzi* isolates (87-88). The involvement of cruzipain in host cell invasion and intracellular development was suggested by using peptidyl diazomethane derivatives, a class of irreversible inhibitors of cysteine proteinase (89). A beneficial role by inhibiting cruzipain in mice infected with *T. cruzi* was observed by treating infected mice with peptide-fluoromethyl ketones (90). The inhibitors that inactivate cruzipain arrest intracellular replication and intercellular transmission *in vitro* (91).

The participation of cruzipain in host cell invasion by trypomastigotes is associated with its ability to generate bradykinin (92). The involvement of the B type bradykinin receptor (B<sub>2</sub>R) in T. cruzi infection was studied using human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) or CHO cells over expressing B<sub>2</sub>R (CHO-B<sub>2</sub>R). Captopril, an inhibitor of bradykinin degradation by kininase II, enhances trypomastigote entry into HUVECs and CHO-B2R, but not into mock-transfected CHO cells, whereas the B2R antagonist HOE 140 or a monoclonal antibody to bradykinin blocks these effects. Cruzipain enhances parasite invasion and triggers Ca2+ mobilization in CHO-B<sub>2</sub>R in a manner inhibitable by HOE 140 or the cruzipain inhibitor E-64, indicating that the enzyme may play a role in producing the kinin agonist from cell-bound kiningen. The kinin-mediated signal transduction route is not ubiquitous and its activation depends on the cell type and the parasite isolate used (92).

It has also been shown that MGTA, an inhibitor of kininase I, selectively decreases trypomastigote infectivity for  $B_1R$ -expressing cells and that addition of  $B_1R$  or  $B_2R$  antagonists to host cells co-expressing these receptors inhibit parasite infectivity to a similar extent (93). Both antagonists had no additive effects on the infection of both cardiomyocytes and HUVECs.

Processing of kininogens presumably takes place within the secluded spaces formed by the juxtaposition of parasites (92-93). Cruzipain appears to be modulated by both the host and *T. cruzi* components. Heparin sulfate enhances cruzipain activity by 6-fold. On the other hand, a tight-binding cysteine proteinase inhibitor, chagasin, was identified in *T. cruzi* (94). It is localized in the flagellar pocket and cytoplasmic vesicles of trypomastigotes, and its expression is inversely correlated with that of cruzipain.

#### 4.3. Oligopeptidase B

A soluble factor secreted by trypomastigotes, is the sole component of this *T. cruzi* developmental form reported to directly trigger Ca<sup>2+</sup> response in host cells. This soluble factor is generated by the action of a 120 kDa alkaline peptidase on precursors present only in infective trypomastigotes (95). The purified peptidase is devoid of Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling activity on its own and is also present in non-infective epimastigotes (95).

The trypomastigote peptidase was found to be a cytosolic enzyme closely related to members of the prolyl oligopeptidase family of serine endopeptidases, and is called *T. cruzi* oligopeptidase B (96). Oligopeptidase B null mutant trypomastigotes are defective in mobilizing Ca<sup>2+</sup> from thapsigargin-sensitive stores in mammalian cells, and in establishing infection *in vitro* and *in vivo* (97). It was proposed that the Ca<sup>2+</sup> agonist generated by oligopeptidase B is exported from the parasite and binds to a receptor on the surface of target cells, activating PLC and generating IP, which binds to its receptor on the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum and promotes Ca<sup>2+</sup> release.

# 4.4. Metalloproteinases

Surface antigens with metalloprotease activity, homologous to *Leishmania* gp63, were identified in *T. cruzi* (98). Affinity-purified antibodies to these antigens inhibit host cell invasion by fifty percent. The molecular characterization, structural analysis and the precise role of the surface metalloproteinases in the early process of infection are unknown.

# 5. PUTATIVE HOST CELL RECEPTORS FOR T. CRUZI

### 5.1. Cytokeratin 18

Tc85-11A, a member of the TS multigene family, presents adhesive properties to laminin and to the cytoskeletal protein cytokeratin18, which is expressed in monkey kidney epithelial cells (57, 61). The binding region of Tc85-11, VTVXNVFLYNR, is co-localized at the carboxyl terminal. Anti-cytokeratin antibodies partially inhibit the in vitro infection, suggesting that these molecules participate in the process of infection. Experiments to knock out the Tc85-11 gene to validate its function in the process of infection pose challenges because it belongs to the large TS gene family. On the other hand, no studies have been performed with cytokeratin 18 KO animal models or silencing the expression of cytokeratin 18 in vitro and in vivo by stable RNAi to validate the proposed interaction. The fact that cytokeratin 18 is one of many protein isoforms may pose similar challenges to validate its function in parasite infection. The 85-kDa proteins trypomastigotes also bind to fibronectin (99), a host molecule involved in the infection process that also interacts with amastigotes to modulate the infection of T. cruzi by human monocytes and macrophages (100).

It would seem likely that cruzipain (92, 101) and other proteases (84) would be operative in breaking successive protein-protein interactions, thus facilitating parasite progression in the host. It is possible that several TSs may function as ligands using different domains to interact with host cell surface receptors during the initial

steps of infection. It is thought that the catalytic site of the TSs do not participate in invasion, since antibodies against the catalytic site of the enzyme do not inhibit parasite internalization into host cells (64).

#### 5.2. P74

A 74-kilodalton surface glycoprotein from heart myoblasts that specifically binds to T. trypomastigotes to mediate trypanosome attachment to heart myoblasts was reported (102). Pre-incubation of trypomastigotes with the soluble 74 kDa glycoprotein inhibits binding and internalization of trypomastigotes into heart myoblast monolayers in a concentration dependent and saturable manner. Preincubation of heart myoblast monolayers with antibodies specific to the purified 74 kDa glycoprotein also strongly inhibits trypomastigote binding and internalization into heart cells in a concentration dependent manner (102). It was recently found that this recombinant molecule binds to the trypomastigote gp83 ligand and that antibodies to both proteins block this interaction and trypanosome attachment and entry (unpublished observations). These results support the notion that the surface 74 kDa glycoprotein is a target molecule on heart myoblasts to which T. cruzi binds in order to invade them. The molecular characterization of this putative receptor for T. cruzi and in vitro and in vivo validation of the role of this gene in the process of early infection is under way.

### 5.3. Galectin-3

Galectin-3 is a beta galactoside binding human lectin that plays important roles in the early critical steps of T. cruzi infection of human cells (42). Binding of galectin— 3 to the surface of human coronary artery smooth muscle cells is granular, distributed around the cellular membrane, polarized, and more pronounced at the cellular ends (42). The receptors for human galectin-3 are distributed in patches on the surface of the cells and are more abundant at the terminal regions of the cells. The binding of galectin-3 to trypomastigotes is also seen as granular, restricted to some areas of the membrane of trypanosomes, and polarized (42). The binding of galectin-3 to the surface of both T. cruzi trypomastigotes and human coronary artery smooth muscle (HCASM) cells is completely inhibited by 5 mM lactose but not by 5 mM sucrose, indicating that galectin-3 binds to the surface of both trypomastigotes and HCASM cells in a lectin-like manner (42). Galectin-3 increases five times the normal adhesion of trypomastigotes to HCASM cells; this effect is specific since it is inhibited by lactose in a concentration-dependent and saturable manner. Cells stably transfected with galectin-3 antisense show a dramatically reduced expression of galectin-3 compared to cells transfected with vector alone and a significant reduction in the numbers of bound trypanosomes compared to cells transfected with the vector alone. The addition of exogenous galectin-3 to cells transfected with galectin-3 antisense restores the initial capacity of these cells to bind to trypanosomes.

Galectin-3 is expressed on the surface of and secreted from human HCASM cells; exogenous galectin-3 enhances the binding of *T. cruzi* to human HCASM cells.

Cellular expression of galectin-3 is required for T. cruzi adhesion to human cells. The fact that exogenous human galectin-3 specifically binds to the surface of HCASM cells and to T. cruzi suggests that galectin-3 bridges trypanosomes and cells, resulting in an enhancement of the binding of T. cruzi to human cells. These results are consistent with the notion that galectin-3 can serve as an adapter for different types of molecules in other biological systems (103). Galectin-3 can bind glycoconjugates by means of its carbohydrate recognition domain region and can bind other molecules through its non-lectin half, therefore serving as a cross-linker between glycoconjugates and other molecules (103). Galectin-3 binds to the membrane of *T. cruzi*-containing surface glycoproteins. One surface glycoprotein of invasive T. cruzi trypomastigotes that plays a role in this interaction is the 45 kDa mucin of trypomastigotes which specifically interacts with galectin-3 (22, 41).

Galectin-3 is also implicated in the association of T. cruzi trypomastigotes with laminin (41). Binding of trypomastigotes to laminin is enhanced by galectin-3 and this enhanced binding of trypanosomes is inhibited by lactose. Co-immunoprecipitations indicate that galectin-3 binds to the 45, 32 and 30 kDa trypomastigote surface proteins and this binding is also inhibited by lactose (41). The monoclonal antibody B5 that recognizes the trypomastigote 45 kDa surface mucin trypomastigote attachment to heart myoblasts (22). This is a mechanism where a human parasite, T. cruzi, utilizes human galectin-3 to effectively interact with laminin. A working model proposes that galectin-3, released by human cells, forms bridges between T. cruzi and laminin. Galectin-3 molecules interact with T. cruzi 45 (mucin), 32 and 30 kDa surface proteins on one hand and with laminin on the other, via their carbohydrate recognition domains and are joined together by the R-domains (104) in a concentration dependent manner. Since nearly all the tissues which T. cruzi infects are surrounded by basement membranes of which laminin is a major constituent, its ability to effectively interact with laminin is critically important for passage through the membrane barrier. These studies suggest that this is a trypanosome trapping mechanism, which enables the organisms to accumulate in the basement membrane prior to invasion of heart myoblasts, making galectin-3 a candidate molecule, which enhances the pathogenesis of *T. cruzi*.

Galectins have long been suspected of modulating cell to extracellular matrix interactions in a novel fashion (104). Data suggest that one mechanism used involves the ligation of mammalian cells to extracellular matrix proteins, which also interact with galectin-3 such as laminin and elastin (104). The other mechanism involves the interaction of galectins with the polylactosamine residues of integrins, resulting in the modulation of cellular adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins (105). Whereas most of these studies were done in mammalian systems, it has been suggested that galectins expressed by *Entamoeba* may be critical in their interactions with host cells (106). It is likely that in parasitic organisms, the binding of the organisms to the extracellular matrix proteins or cell

surface glycoconjugates may be the primary adhesion mechanisms mediated by galectins.

Galectin-3 is also expressed in B cells from T. cruzi-infected mice (107) and is up regulated by T. cruzi infection of mice (108). The fact that galectin-3 is secreted by macrophages and by other cells, including human CASM cells, suggests that released galectin-3 modulates infection. The concentrations of galectin-3 that increase trypanosome adhesion to HCASM cells in vitro are similar to the concentrations of galectin-3 present in fluids in vivo (109). Furthermore, the concentrations of galectin-3 in fluids in vivo increase approximately 300-fold during microbial infection (110). These observations suggest that the parasite may have adapted to the host and that it takes advantage of a host inflammatory molecule, galectin-3, to bind to host cells. Since, it has been recently reported that Chagas' disease cardiomyopathy is in part a vasculopathy (111) it is suggested that these findings may contribute in part to determining the cause of this pathology.

#### 6. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX

#### 6.1. Laminin gamma-1

Recent evidence indicates that *T. cruzi* modulates the extracellular matrix network to facilitate infection of human cells (52). The *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand increases the level of laminin gamma-1 transcript and its expression in mammalian cells, leading to an increase in cellular infection. Stable RNA interference (RNAi) of host cell laminin gamma-1 knocks down the levels of laminin gamma-1 transcript and protein expression in mammalian cells, causing a dramatic reduction in cellular infection by *T. cruzi* (52). Thus, host laminin gamma-1, which is regulated by the parasite, plays a crucial role in the early process of infection.

Previous studies have shown that parasite molecules bind to immobilized laminin (61) and that human galectin-3 enhances this interaction (41), suggesting that the trypanosome interacts with laminin. Laminin gamma-1 is the most abundant isoform of laminin in humans (112). The hypothesis that *T. cruzi* gp83 binds to human cells to regulate the expression of laminin gamma-1, which is required for *T. cruzi* infection, is experimentally supported by the fact that pre-exposure of *T. cruzi* gp83 to human coronary artery smooth cells up-regulates *T. cruzi* infection and expression of laminin gamma-1 and that knocking down the expression of laminin gamma-1 by RNAi dramatically reduces *T. cruzi* infection of human cells.

Host laminin gamma-1, which is regulated by the parasite ligand, plays a crucial role in the early process of *T. cruzi* infection of heart cells. The regulation of gp83 expression by the parasite as well as the gp83 released by the trypanosome PLC play an important role in the modulation of early signaling events leading to initial parasite infection. The regulation of infection by the gp83 ligand represents a parasite escape mechanism in which invasive trypomastigotes release gp83 to efficiently gain entry into human heart cells.

T. cruzi must navigate through the basal lamina, which contains laminin gamma-1, and surrounds individual muscle cells such as HCASM cells before infecting these cells. The fact that a T. cruzi trypomastigote ligand increases laminin gamma-1 transcript levels in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells, correlates with the finding that laminin is deposited in the hearts of patients infected with Chagas' disease (113). This suggests that the regulation of laminin gamma-1 in heart cells by gp83 might explain, in part, the cause of this pathology.

The fact that the *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand remodels the extracellular matrix (ECM) by up-regulating the expression of laminin gamma-1, together with the report that *T. cruzi* presents laminin receptors on its surface (61), indicates that the parasite exploits laminin gamma-1 to navigate through the ECM to facilitate infection. Thus, the *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand is a virulence factor that modifies laminin gamma-1 expression in the ECM to contribute to the pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection in human heart cells.

## 6.2. Thrombospondin-1

*T. cruzi* is also able to increase the levels of thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) expression in host cells during early infection. Stable RNA interference of host cell TSP-1 knocks down the levels of TSP-1 transcripts and protein expression in mammalian cells causing inhibition of *T. cruzi* infection (114). Addition of TSP-1 to these cells restores infection. Thus, host TSP-1, regulated by the parasite, plays a crucial role in early infection.

T. cruzi must navigate the ECM in order to infect mammalian cells. Amongst the glycoproteins of the ECM, thrombospondins constitute a set of unique multidomain proteins that are synthesized, secreted and incorporated into the ECM by many cell types (115-116). Thrombospondins are unique members of the ECM in that they have been described as 'matricellular' proteins because they modulate cell function but they do not play a direct role in the structure of the ECM. Most thrombospondin types are expressed in myocytes, smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells, among others that T. cruzi infects. Most tissues express at least one type of thrombospondin (115).

It was suggested that *T. cruzi* might have receptors for thrombospondin (117). The role that host TSP isoforms may play in the process of microbial infections is just beginning to be elucidated. Since nearly all cells that *T. cruzi* infects are surrounded by basement membranes, of which several TSP isoforms are important constituents, the ability of the parasite to effectively regulate and interact with TSP-1 is also critically important for its passage through the membrane barrier.

The kinetics of change in gene transcript profiles of TSP-1, TSP-2, TSP-3 and TSP-4 was evaluated by real time PCR during the early process of infection of HCASM cells by *T. cruzi*. It was shown that TSP-1 transcript levels increases approximately 6-fold at 60 min, followed by an increase of 2.7-fold at 120 min during infection of HCASM cells by *T. cruzi*.

The transcript levels of TSP-2, TSP-3 and TSP-4 do not change significantly during the same period of time of *T. cruzi* infection of HCASM cells.

TGF beta-1 induced over-expression of TSP-1 in HeLa cells and causes a significant increase in both trypanosome binding to cells at 2 h and parasite load at 72 h. Thus, there is a direct correlation between over expression of TSP-1 in HeLa cells with an increase of infection of these cells. The over expression of TSP-1 in human cells induced by TGF beta-1 is consistent with previous reports (118-119). The enhancement of *T. cruzi* infection of mammalian cells caused by pretreatment of cells with TGF beta-1 is also consistent with a previous report (120). Pre-exposure of human epithelial cells, in which the TSP1-1 gene was silenced by stable RNAi, blocked *T. cruzi* infection and exogenous recombinant TSP-1 restores the infection of these cells.

RNAi of TSP-1 significantly decreases the protein levels in human cells. In cells in which TSP-1 is silenced by RNAi, the expression of other ECM proteins such as fibronectin and laminin and/or galectin-3 are not altered nor were their abilities to adhere to substrate, supporting the specificity of these studies.

RNAi of TSP-1 dramatically reduced the number of trypomastigotes that attach to human cells and reduced parasite loads at 72 h as compared to cells transfected with vector alone or scrambled antisense TSP-1. These results indicate that RNAi of TSP-1 substantially reduces the transcript and its encoded protein, rendering the human cells to be substantially less susceptible to *T. cruzi* infection and indicating that TSP-1 is required for the process of *T. cruzi* infection. The residual *T. cruzi* infection seen indicates that the parasite uses other TSP-1 independent mechanisms to infect cells.

T. cruzi infection causes extensive fibrosis and severe heart cardiomyopathology, which is in part vasculopathy, leading to cardiac arrest that is frequently followed by death (1). The fact that T. cruzi trypomastigotes increased TSP-1 transcripts in HCASM cells suggest that TSP-1 may also contribute in part to the pathology caused by T. cruzi.

Other groups have shown that *T. cruzi* uncharacterized antigens up-regulate laminin, fibronectin, and type I collagen (121). The fact that *T. cruzi* remodels the ECM by also up-regulating the expression of TSP-1 indicates that the parasite exploits TSP-1 in addition to laminin to navigate through the ECM to facilitate infection. TSP-1 is required for the infection process of *T. cruzi* as evidenced by RNAi of that specific isoform.

The *T. cruzi* up regulation of host TSP-1 expression to facilitate the infection of human cells represents a new mechanism that contributes to the pathogenesis of *T. cruzi* infection.

## 6.3. Fibronectin

The involvement of fibronectin in target cell invasion by trypomastigotes was suggested from

experiments in which the peptide RGDS, corresponding to the fibronectin cell attachment site, was found to bind to the trypomastigote surface and to inhibit trypomastigote internalization (99). The trypomastigote ligand for fibronectin was purified by affinity chromatography, and identified as an 85 kDa protein that interacts with cells bearing fibronectin molecules, such as human monocytes, neutrophils and 3T3 fibroblasts (122). However, molecular genetic approaches have not been used to validate the role of fibronectin in the process of infection.

# 7. NEW GENETIC TOOLS TO STUDY THE FUNCTION OF *T. CRUZI* GENES IN INFECTION

# 7.1. pTcINDEX expression vector for *T. cruzi*

T. cruzi is an early diverging eukaryote that many unusual biochemical features. The completion of the T. cruzi genome project has highlighted the need to extend the range of techniques available to study gene function with particular emphasis in trypanosome attachment and entry. The inability to use RNAi in T. cruzi and to use this approach to rapidly study gene function in T. cruzi attachment and entry and other fundamental biological processes of parasite biology is a significant limitation to study the first steps of pathogenesis. Very limited numbers of genes in T. cruzi have been knocked out by homologous recombination to study their function in the process of infection and most of the T. cruzi genes suggested to play roles in the process of host cell invasion have not been validated. However, a recent development to study gene function in T. cruzi biology has been described (123) to overcome this problem. It is expected that the pTcINDEX expression vector for T. cruzi (123) will represent a valuable addition to the genetic tools available for T. cruzi research. This vector system is sufficiently flexible in that it should have widespread uses including inducible expression of tagged proteins, generation of conditional knockout trypanosome cell lines and the application of dominant-negative approaches to validate the role of candidate invasive genes in the process of *T. cruzi* infection.

#### 7.2. Microarrays

Oligonucleotide and cDNA microarrays have emerged as indispensable research tools for studying global gene expression profiles in cells, including studies of host cell-microbial interactions. The application of genomescale approaches to study *T. cruzi*-host interactions at different stages of the infective process is now possible with the completion of the *T. cruzi*, human and murine genome projects. Investigators have begun to exploit DNA microarray technology to analyze host transcriptional responses to *T. cruzi* infection (124-126) and dissect developmental processes in the complex *T. cruzi* life-cycle (127-128). Validation of microarray data by Real-Time PCR is an essential step for confirmation of gene expression results.

The microarray platforms available with the whole human and murine genomes will rapidly facilitate the evaluation of gene expression profiles during *T. cruzi* infection of different types of human cells and the

expression profiles in tissues and organs in the murine experimental model of Chagas disease. Collectively, information generated from these and future studies will provide valuable insights into the molecular requirements for establishment of *T. cruzi* infection in the host and highlight the molecular events coinciding with disease progression.

Microarray technology will also allow rapid identification of the molecular signature caused by T. cruzi during the early process of infection of heart cells as well as other phagocytic and non-phagocytic cells that T. cruzi infects. It will also permit comparison of gene expression profiles in different cell types that T. cruzi infects. technology combined with powerful bioinformatics gene expression tools will allow the identification of new pathways and gene clusters required for T. cruzi infection. The generation of microchips with the whole T. cruzi genome will be instrumental and will rapidly facilitate the gene expression profiling during T. cruzi attachment and entry as well and the identification of T. cruzi genes expressed during trypanosome entry that are important for the understanding of the early infection process from the molecular point of view of the trypanosome and the host cell.

Until now the response of the whole *T. cruzi* genome during early, intermediate and late infection has not been analyzed. Microchips containing the whole *T. cruzi* genome will also be important to identify the *T. cruzi* genes that are regulated during the intracellular phase in non-phagocytic and phagocytic cells. The trypanosome genes and their gene products regulated in the intracellular environment during the early infection process are prime targets for intervention. The accessibility of high-throughput microchip technologies with the *T. cruzi* whole genome will represent a significant advancement towards the identification of novel drug targets and vaccine candidates for the treatment and prevention of Chagas' disease.

Investigators have used part of the human genome in microarrays to study the gene expression profiling in human foreskin fibroblasts infected with T. cruzi (124). Results from these studies suggest that the immediate/early response to T. cruzi infection involves minimal modulation of host cell transcription (124). Other investigators have evaluated gene expression profiles in a murine model of chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy using microchips with part of the murine genome (125). From these studies, the regulated genes were interpreted as potential contributors to the pathogenesis of chagasic heart disease (125). More recently microarray studies also implicated that genes from Chagas susceptibility loci that are differentially expressed in T. cruzi-resistant mice are candidates accounting for impaired immunity (126). It is unknown whether strains of *T. cruzi* may generate the same or different types of gene expression profiles in the same cell types that T. cruzi infects. The generation of a database of gene expression profiles of several types of human cells infected with T. cruzi will be instrumental to the elucidation of the molecular signature caused by T.

*cruzi* in the cell. It is expected in the coming years that this molecular signature will be elucidated. These findings will be very important for molecular intervention in *T. cruzi* infection.

#### 7.3. RNAi

The discovery of RNA interference (RNAi) gene silencing by double-stranded RNA has facilitated the rapid study of the function of genes in biological processes. RNAi is already being used in basic science as a method to study the function of genes and it may lead to novel therapies in the future. RNAi was recently used to reduce the expression of host genes involved in early T. cruzi infection of human epithelial cells (52, 114). RNAi of extracellular matrix genes, laminin gamma-1 and thrombospondin 1 blocks *T. cruzi* infection (52, 114). These are the first reports showing that knocking down the expression of human genes by RNAi inhibits the infection of an intracellular parasite. This is a powerful technique that, combined with microarray gene expression data, will facilitate the rapid discovery of the roles of critical host genes and their encoded proteins play in the process of infection.

# 8. CELLULAR RESPONSES TO EARLY *T. CRUZI* INFECTION

Invasion of host cells by *T. cruzi* is a mechanism of immune evasion that is essential for the survival and replication of the parasite in several tissues and organs including the heart. The exact cellular mechanisms by which trypomastigotes become internalized and retained within non-phagocytic cells have only recently begun to be understood. Several reviews have documented in detail the significant progress made in some aspects of the cell biology of *T. cruzi*- host interactions with specific emphasis in cellular responses (129-130). Therefore, it is not the intent of this section to provide a full discussion of cellular responses to early infection, but to present a brief provocative discussion.

Briefly, T. cruzi invades host cells without any detectable extension of the plasma membrane or the formation of spacious phagosomes. A tight association between trypomastigotes and the host-cell membrane is observed during parasite entry, and T. cruzi is seen inside this tight vacuole for a considerable period of time before escaping into the cytosol (131-132). Invasion is not inhibited by cytochalasin D (133), a drug that blocks actin polymerization and phagocytosis. Host-cell lysosomes are recruited to the site of trypomastigote entry and gradually fused with the plasma membrane (134). This lysosomemediated entry process is dependent on a calcium-signaling pathway that is specifically triggered by trypomastigotes in non-phagocytic cells (135-137). Lysosome recruitment is not the only mechanism by which T. cruzi can enter nonphagocytic cells (138). Trypomastigotes can also invade cells enveloped by invaginated plasma membranes, generating an intracellular vacuole that subsequently fuses with lysosomes (139). This pathway is also completely independent of host-cell actin polymerization. Disruption of the host-cell cortical actin cytoskeleton facilitates plasma-membrane-mediated entry. It was suggested that T. cruzi has two entry pathways (140-141). One is plasma membrane-mediated and the other is lysosome-mediated; they can be distinguished by their differential sensitivity to PI-3 kinase inhibitors such as wortmannin, which abolishes the lysosome-mediated pathway, whereas a significant fraction of the plasma-membrane-mediated pathway remains (139). It was suggested that cell invasion mediated exclusively by plasma-membrane invagination, in the absence of PI-3 kinase activation, is not viable. In the absence of lysosomal fusion, trypomastigotes gradually exit from host cells. Lysosomes also seem to serve as intracellular anchors, crucial for the retention of trypomastigotes inside host cells, to facilitate a successful infection (130). Although significant progress has been made in this area, the knowledge of the parasite molecules that are responsible for the early cellular responses to T. cruzi are very limited and require extensive investigation.

The previous limitation of genetic tools to identify and validate *T. cruzi* genes and their coded proteins responsible for the described cellular effects has presented difficulties for the identification and validation of trypanosome invasive genes. It is expected that the new genetic tools discussed in this review will fulfill the gap in the roles that trypanosome and host genes require for cellular invasion by *T. cruzi*.

# 9. OTHER SIGNALING EVENTS DURING T. CRUZI INVASION

T. cruzi activates signal transduction events during cellular entry that appear to be needed for the initial establishment of cellular infection. Trypomastigotes or their isolated membranes, but not non-infective epimastigotes, induce repetitive cytosolic-free Ca<sup>2+</sup> transients in fibroblasts and parasite entry is inhibited by depletion of host cell cytosolic-free Ca<sup>2+</sup> or pretreatment with channel blockers (135). A soluble trypomastigote fraction induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> response in a variety of cell types including cardiac myocytes (34, 142). IP3, generated upon PLC activation, mediated intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization triggered by a trypomastigote soluble factor (143).

The host cell Ca<sup>2+</sup> response induces the recruitment of lysosomes to the site of *T. cruzi* penetration (130). Lysosome redistribution and trypanosome invasion of cells is inhibited upon treatment with microtubule-binding drugs, or after microinjection with antibodies to kinesin, indicating that lysosome transport is mediated by microtubule/kinesin (144). The fused lysosomes are predominantly pre-docked at the plasma membrane, Ca<sup>2+</sup> being primarily responsible for fusion and not recruitment of lysosomes to the cell surface (145). By fusing with the plasma membrane, lysosomes would contribute to formation of the parasitophorous vacuole (130).

Elevation in intracellular free Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration triggers lysosome fusion and exocytosis (146). Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent exocytosis of lysosomes is cAMP-regulated and is enhanced by isopreternol, a beta-adrenergic agonist that activates adenylyl cyclase through the

heterotrimeric G protein  $G_s$  (137). Sinaptotagmin VII, a ubiquitously expressed sinaptotagmin isoform that is localized on the membrane of lysosomes in different cell types and regulates exocytosis of these organelles, appears to mediate *T. cruzi* invasion. Trypomastigote entry was impaired in CHO cells loaded with antibodies that recognize the  $Ca^{2+}$ -binding domain of sinaptotagmin VII and inhibit the  $Ca^{2+}$ -triggered exocytosis of lysosomes (147).

Targeted lysosome exocytosis may not be the predominant mechanism by which trypomastigotes gain access to non-professional phagocytic cells. A minimal fraction of the invading trypomastigotes associate with host cell lysosomes whereas the majority of parasites induce plasma membrane invagination and the trypomastigote-containing vacuoles gradually acquire lysosomal markers (139). The newly forming *T. cruzi* compartments first interact with an early endosome compartment and subsequently with other late endosomes, before interaction with lysosomes (148).

The actin cytoskeleton is implicated in the intracellular retention of *T. cruzi* (140). A significant fraction of the internalized parasites is not retained inside host cells for productive infection by blocking lysosomemediated trypomastigote invasion through phosphoinositide 3-kinase inhibition (141).

Phosphoinositide (PI)-3 kinases, protein kinase and phosphatases are also implicated in the mechanisms of *T. cruzi* invasion. Infection of macrophages by trypomastigotes stimulates the formation of the lipid products of PI 3-kinases; treatment with wortmannin, an inhibitor of PI 3-kinases, impairs parasite internalization (149). Human macrophages and non-phagocytic cells become less susceptible to *T. cruzi* infection upon treatment with wortmannin (150). Host cell PI 3-kinases activated by trypomastigotes early in the cell invasion process regulate lysosome-dependent parasite entry.

The *T. cruzi* gp83 ligand activates the MAP kinase pathway and PKC in macrophages to enhance *T. cruzi* infection of these cells (50-51) whereas, *T. cruzi* infection of HUVECs and vascular smooth muscle cells activates the MAP kinase pathway (151). Activation of parasite PTK is required for trypomastigote entry into nonphagocytic cells (152). Other protein kinases also participate in *T. cruzi* entry into host cells. It was found that infection of transiently transfected 3T3 cells containing an inactive mutant protein kinase B is less susceptible to invasion, as compared to the active mutant-transfected cells (150).

On the other hand, protein tyrosine phosphatases appear to be involved in the initial infection. Invasion of trypomastigotes induces tyrosine dephosphorylation of several proteins in heart myoblasts, and the parasite internalization is greatly reduced in the presence of protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors and in the presence of excess phosphotyrosine, but not of phosphoserine or phosphothreonine (151).

The signaling pathway mediated by transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) receptor may be activated during trypomastigote invasion of mammalian cells. There is a requirement for the TGF-beta pathway in T. cruzi invasion of epithelial cells. Trypomastigotes attach to TGF-beta receptor-deficient epithelial cell lines, but are unable to penetrate them. T. cruzi infection is restored by transfection with TGF-beta receptor genes, and treatment with TGF-beta greatly enhances parasite internalization. A TGF-beta -responsive reporter gene is induced in TGF-beta -sensitive cell lines by trypomastigotes but not by noninvasive epimastigotes. Therefore, it is suggested that *T*. cruzi might directly trigger activation of the TGF-beta signaling pathway required for invasion. The putative TGFbeta -like factor from trypomastigotes has never been characterized (120).

A 200 kDa TS of *T. cruzi* (153) appears to mimic nerve growth factor (NGF) by activating the nerve growth factor receptor TrKA *in vitro* (154-155). Its was also reported that *T. cruzi* infects PC12 cells by activating TrKA and that injection of an inhibitor of TrkA auto phosphorylation, or TrKA into mice attenuates *T. cruzi* infection (156). It was suggested that this activation also facilitates neuron survival (154). However, infections with a 200 KDa TS dominant negative or transgenic trypanosomes and mice in which the TrKA gene was silenced are required to support these contentions.

#### 10. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Although there is growing evidence from previous studies to suggest that *T. cruzi* surface molecules participate in the initial process of cardiomyocyte infection, the predominant molecular mechanism for their interactions is not well defined, and the cellular receptors that interact with such molecules have not been characterized. While progress in the cell biology of the infection process has also been made, the identification of a common molecular signature caused by *T. cruzi* in heart and other cells will help develop novel strategies to prevent Chagas heart disease.

The involvement of most of the suggested critical trypanosome and host molecules that participate in the early process of the infection has not been validated using molecular genetic approaches such as gene knock out or transgenic animal models, or T. cruzi gene knock out or transgenic trypanosomes. Furthermore, the structural and atomic analysis of T. cruzi surface ligands and the cocrystallization of these ligands and their host receptors that mediate trypanosome attachment to non-phagocytic and phagocytic cells leading to entry are critically important to understand this interaction at the molecular and atomic levels and to develop small inhibitors to block the first steps of infection. These studies are just beginning and it is expected that in the long term they will molecularly dissect this interaction. Furthermore, the use of high throughput technology to identify inhibitors of ligand-receptor interactions is beginning to be used and it is expected that it will bring novel drugs to block the first step of infection in Chagas heart disease.

There is documented information that T. cruzi triggers early signal transduction events during cellular entry, however very little is known about the trypanosome molecules that cause these events in heart cells leading to T. cruzi entry. Knock outs of host signal transduction genes, silencing them by RNAi, use of mouse embryo fibroblasts expressing, non-expressing or over-expressing signal transduction molecules or use of dominant negative cell lines may be a rapid approach to confirm or validate the role of signaling molecules in the early process of cellular invasion. Furthermore, the generation of trypanosome gene knock-out cell lines, transgenic trypanosomes and dominant negative trypanosomes using recently developed tools will be instrumental to elucidating the molecules in invasive trypomastigotes that trigger critical signal transduction events in heart cells leading to trypanosome entry. The studies of early T. cruzi entry into cardiomyocytes using approaches such as microarray platforms containing the whole human and T. cruzi genomes, host RNAi, new generation of expression vectors in T. cruzi, proteomics, combined with appropriate bioinformatics analysis will open windows to study systems biology during early T. cruzi infection of cardiomyocytes. These studies are also very much needed not only to understand the global molecular pathogenesis of T. cruzi infection of heart cells, but to understand the molecular basis of cardiovascular disease important for the development of both novel T. cruzi and cell-based therapies for Chagas heart disease.

The fact that two putative receptors for *T. cruzi* have been suggested by *in vitro* studies is promising, however the function of these putative receptors for *T. cruzi* needs to be validated *in vivo* using animal modes not expressing, expressing or over-expressing the genes coding for these putative receptors for *T. cruzi*.

Two attempts to address the role of two trypanosome genes in the process of infection by homologous recombination were documented. However, none of these genes encodes T. cruzi ligands that mediate attachment to heart cells to promote entry. T. cruzi gene silencing by RNAi to study the function of genes in the process of infection cannot be performed because the RNAi interference system in *T. cruzi* does not operate. Furthermore, since most of the candidate *T. cruzi* subsets of molecules such as mucins and TS implicated in invasion belong to large multi gene families, the approach of knocking them out by homologous recombination to study their functions in the attachment and entry process of heart cells poses limitations. Alternative approaches that need to be used include the generation of conditional knockout trypanosome cell lines and the application of dominantnegative approaches to validate the role of candidate invasive genes in the process of T. cruzi infection of heart cells.

The approach of RNAi to silence extracellular matrix genes such as laminin gamma-1 and thrombospondin 1 that are regulated during early *T. cruzi* infection has provided very impressive results to evaluate the function of cellular genes required in the early process

of the infection of heart myoblasts and coronary artery smooth muscle cells. It is expected that future studies will use similar RNAi approaches to validate the involvement of other genes regulated by *T. cruzi* in the heart cells that are implicated in cardiovascular disease.

It is also important to identify the *T. cruzi* genes that are regulated when T. cruzi invades heart cells. We know almost nothing about the *T. cruzi* genes that may be important in the molecular pathogenesis of cardiac and other cells, which may contribute to cardiovascular disease in Chagas heart disease. The genes regulated by recently internalized T. cruzi during early infection of heart cells may cause the heart to arrest, facilitating the establishment of the parasite. It is important to identify these trypanosome genes as well as understand their roles in cardiomyocyte infection and pathology. We expect that the recent completion of the T. cruzi genome project and the generation of microchip platforms containing the whole T. cruzi genome will facilitate studies that will also be relevant to understand the molecular pathogenesis of cardiomyocyte infection that may lead to the cardiovascular pathology seen in Chagas heart disease. The information gained in this area will also be important to target those *T*. cruzi genes and their coded proteins to block parasite intracellular establishment and development in heart cells.

Even though the complete *T. cruzi* genome has been sequenced and partial annotations of the genome took place (28) this new information has not been used vigorously to identify the invasive genes and the critical genes that are regulated during the early process of infection. No global gene-networking analysis of the genes involved in the invasion process of the parasite and host cells has been established. The work of functional genomics and systems biology during early infection of mammalian cells by *T. cruzi* is in infancy. Future progress in this area will facilitate the full understanding of the participation of the parasite and host cells during early infection.

Neither DNA microarrays and proteomic analysis of *T. cruzi* clonal populations with different degrees of infectivity nor the molecular host response to different clonal populations and to strains of *T. cruzi* with different infectivity has been performed to understand how molecular determinants are involved in the infection. Furthermore, systems biology of host responses to the whole *T. cruzi* and to critical surface molecules that participate in the initial cellular infection has not been done. Is the molecular signature caused by early *T. cruzi* infection the same, similar or different across various cell types? What are the molecular signatures caused by TS, TS-like molecules, mucins, casein Kinase II substrate and other molecules involved in the process of infection of cardiomyocytes and other cells?

Since *T. cruzi* infects almost all cells in our body except red blood cells, the questions "does *T. cruzi* utilize the same types of surface receptors in all cells, does *T. cruzi* use different classes of receptors depending on the type of host cell and what are the innate immune molecules

that facilitate, promote, and regulate the early process of cellular infection" need to be addressed. Most of the answers to the questions raised in this review will not only facilitate the understanding of the mechanisms of T. cruzi attachment, entry, intracellular development, multiplication and egress from infected cells, but also the understanding of how *T. cruzi* evades the host to establish early infection. Once answered, these questions will also facilitate the understanding at the molecular and atomic levels that is critically important to establish prime targets to intervene against T. cruzi infection and to facilitate the manipulation of the host to ameliorate infection. We enthusiastically expect that the future directions highlighted in this review will significantly advance the molecular understanding of how T. cruzi infects heart and other cells to contribute to cardiovascular disease. The new knowledge gained will be useful to develop strategies to prevent this devastating heart disease. Furthermore, the use of the proposed integrated and powerful approaches will also facilitate underlining the precise mechanisms of cardiomyocyte and other cell signaling at the molecular level during early infection that are critical for the development of molecular interventions in Chagas heart disease.

#### 11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by NIH grants SC1 GM 081168, GM 008037, AI 007281 and HL 007737. We apologize to those whose studies could not be mentioned due to space constraints.

## 12. REFERENCES

- 1. H.B. Tanowitz, L.V. Kirchhoff, D. Simon, S.A. Morris, L.M. Weiss, and M. Wittner: Chagas' disease. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 5, 400-419 (1992)
- 2. M. Larkin: Is Chagas' disease spread cause concerns? *Lancet Infect Dis* 7, 380 (2007)
- 3. C. Young, P. Losikoff, A. Chawla, L. Glasser, and E. Forman: Transfusion-acquired *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Transfusion* 47, 540-544 (2007)
- 4. S. Nwaka, and A. Hudson: Innovative lead discovery strategies for tropical diseases. *Nature Rev Drug Discov* 5, 941-955 (2006)
- 5. S. Schenkman, M.A. Ferguson, N. Heise, M.L. de Almeida, R.A. Mortara, and N. Yoshida: Mucin-like glycoproteins linked to the membrane by glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor are the major acceptors of sialic acid in a reaction catalyzed by *trans*-sialidase in metacyclic forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 59, 293-303 (1993)
- 6. V.L. Pereira-Chioccola, A. Acosta-Serrano, I. Correia de Almeida, M.A. Ferguson, T. Souto-Padron, M.M. Rodrigues, L.R. Travassos, and S. Schenkman: Mucin-like molecules form a negatively charged coat that protects *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes from killing by human anti-galactosyl antibodies. *J Cell Sci* 113, 1299-1307

(2000)

- 7. M.A. Hollingsworth, and B.J. Swanson: Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. *Nature Rev Cancer* 4, 45-60 (2004)
- 8. J.O. Previato, C. Jones, L.P. Goncalves, R. Wait, L.R. Travassos, and L. Mendonca-Previato: *O*-glycosidically linked *N*-acetylglucosamine-bound oligosaccharides from glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Biochem J* 301, 151-159 (1994)
- 9. I.C. Almeida, M.M. Camargo, D.O. Procopio, L.S. Silva, A. Mehlert, L.R. Travassos, R.T. Gazzinelli, and M.A. Ferguson: Highly purified glycosylphosphatidylinositols from *Trypanosoma cruzi* are potent proinflammatory agents. *EMBO J* 19,1476-1485 (2000)
- 10. F. Villalta, and F. Kierszenbaum: Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: Role of cell surface galactose residues. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 119, 228-235 (1984)
- 11. F. Villalta, and F. Kierszenbaum: Role of surface Nacetyl-glucosamine residues on host cell infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi. Biochim Biophys Acta* 845, 216-222 (1985)
- 12. C.L. Allen, and J.M. Kelly: *Trypanosoma cruzi*: mucin pseudogenes organized in a tandem array. *Exp Parasitol* 97, 173-177 (2001)
- 13. J.O. Previato, C. Jones, M.T. Xavier, R. Wait, L.R. Travassos, A.J. Parodi, and L. Mendonca-Previato: Structural characterization of the major glycosylphosphatidylinositol membrane-anchored glycoprotein from epimastigote forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi* Y-strain. *J Biol Chem* 270, 7241-7250 (1995)
- 14. A.A. Serrano, S. Schenkman, N. Yoshida, A. Mehlert, J.M. Richardson, and M.A. Ferguson: The lipid structure of the glycosyl phosphatidylinositol-anchored mucin-like sialic acid acceptors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* changes during parasite differentiation from epimastigotes to infective metacyclic trypomastigote forms. *J Biol Chem* 270, 27244-27253 (1995)
- 15. G.D. Pollevick, J.M. Di Noia, M.L. Salto, C. Lima, M.S. Leguizamon, R.M. Lederkremer, and A.C. Frasch: *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface mucins with exposed variant epitopes. *J Biol Chem* 275, 27671-27680 (2000)
- 16. A.R. Todeschini, E.X. da Silveira, C. Jones, R. Wait, J.O. Previato, and L. Mendonca-Previato: Structure of *O*-glycosidically linked oligosaccharides from glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi* CL-Brener strain: evidence for the presence of *O*-linked sialyl-oligosaccharides. *Glycobiology* 11, 47-55 (2001)
- 17. O.A. Agrellos, C. Jones, A.R. Todeschini, J.O. Previato, and L. Mendonca-Previato: A novel sialylated and galactofuranose-containing *O*-linked glycan, Neu5Ac23Galp16(Galf14)GlcNAc, is expressed on the

- sialoglycoprotein of *Trypanosoma cruzi* Dm28c. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 126, 93-96 (2003)
- 18. C. Jones, A.R. Todeschini, O.A. Agrellos, J.O. Previato, and L. Mendonca-Previato: Heterogeneity in the biosynthesis of mucin *O*-glycans from *Trypanosoma cruzi* Tulahuen strain with the expression of novel galactofuranosyl-containing oligosaccharides. *Biochemistry* 43, 11889-11897 (2004)
- 19. R.A. Mortara, S. da Silva, M.F. Araguth, S.A. Blanco, and N. Yoshida: Polymorphism of the 35- and 50-kilodalton surface glycoconjugates of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes. *Infect Immun* 60, 4673-4678 (1992)
- 20. J.M. Di Noia, G.D. Pollevick, M.T. Xavier, J.O. Previato, L. Mendonca-Previato, D.O. Sanchez, and A.C. Frasch: High diversity in mucin genes and mucin molecules in *Trypanosoma cruzi. J Biol Chem* 271, 32078-32083 (1996)
- 21. N. Yoshida, R.A. Mortara, M.F. Araguth, J.C. Gonzalez, and M. Russo: Metacyclic neutralizing effect of monoclonal antibody 10D8 directed to the 35- and 50-kilodalton surface glycoconjugates of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect Immun* 57,1663-1667 (1989)
- 22. C.W. Turner, M.F. Lima, and F. Villalta: *Trypanosoma cruzi* uses a 45 kDa mucin for adhesion to mammalian cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 290, 29-34 (2002)
- 23. J.M. Di Noia, D.O. Sánchez, and A.C. Frasch: The protozoan *Trypanosoma cruzi* has a family of genes resembling the mucin genes of mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* 270, 24146-24149 (1995)
- 24. J.M. Di Noia, I. D'Orso, L. Åslund, D.O. Sánchez, and A.C. Frasch: The *Trypanosoma cruzi* mucin family is transcribed from hundreds of genes having hypervariable regions. *J Biol Chem* 273,10843-10850 (1998)
- 25. L.H. Freitas-Junior, M.R. Briones and S. Schenkman: Two distinct groups of mucin-like genes are differentially expressed in the developmental stages of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 93, 101-114 (1998)
- 26. V. Campo, J.M. Di Noia, C.A. Buscaglia, F. Aguero, D.O. Sanchez, and A.C. Frasch: Differential accumulation of mutations localized in particular domains of the mucin genes expressed in the vertebrate host stage of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 133, 81-91 (2004)
- 27. L. Vanhamme, and E. Pays: Control of gene expression in trypanosomes. *Microbiol Rev* 59, 223-240 (1995)
- 28. N.M. El-Sayed, P.J. Myler, D.C. Bartholomeu, D. Nilsson, G. Aggarwal, A.N. Tran, E. Ghedin, E.A. Worthey, A.L. Delcher, G. Blandin, S.J. Westenberger, E. Caler, G.C. Cerqueira, C. Branche, B. Haas, A. Anupama, E. Arner, L. Aslund, P. Attipoe, E. Bontempi, F. Bringaud,

- P. Burton, E. Cadag, D.A. Campbell, M. Carrington, J. Crabtree, H. Darban, J.F. da Silveira, P. de Jong, K. Edwards, P.T. Englund, G. Fazelina, T. Feldblyum, M. Ferella, A.C. Frasch, K. Gull, D. Horn, L. Hou, Y. Huang, E. Kindlund, M. Klingbeil, S. Kluge, H. Koo, D. Lacerda, M.J. Levin, H. Lorenzi, T. Louie, C.R. Machado, R. McCulloch, A. McKenna, Y. Mizuno, J.C. Mottram, S. Nelson, S. Ochaya, K. Osoegawa, G. Pai, M. Parsons, M. Pentony, U. Pettersson, M. Pop, J.L. Ramirez, J. Rinta, L. Robertson, S.L. Salzberg, D.O. Sanchez, A. Seyler, R. Sharma, J. Shetty, A.J. Simpson, E. Sisk, M.T. Tammi, R. Tarleton, S. Teixeira, S. Van Aken, C. Vogt, P.N. Ward, B. Wickstead, J. Wortman, O. White, C.M. Fraser, K.D. Stuart, and B. Anderson: The genome sequence of Trypanosoma cruzi, etiologic agent of Chagas disease. Science 309, 409-415 (2005)
- 29. J.A. 3<sup>rd</sup>. Atwood, D.B. Weatherly and T.A. Minning, B. Bundy, C. Cavola, F.R. Opperdoes, R. Orlando, and R.L. Tarleton: The *Trypanosoma cruzi* proteome. *Science* 309, 473-476 (2005)
- 30. J.M. Di Noia, I. D'Orso, D.O. Sánchez, and A.C. Frasch: AU-rich elements in the 3'-untranslated region of a new mucin-type gene family of *Trypanosoma cruzi* confers mRNA instability and modulates translation efficiency. *J Biol Chem* 275, 10218-10227 (2000)
- 31. A. Acosta-Serrano, I.C. Almeida, L.H. Freitas-Junior, N. Yoshida, and S. Schenkman: The mucin-like glycoprotein super-family of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: structure and biological roles. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 114, 143-150 (2001)
- 32. R.C. Ruiz, V.L. Rigoni, J. Gonzalez, and N. Yoshida: The 35/50 kDa surface antigen of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes, an adhesion molecule involved in host cell invasion. *Parasite Immunol* 15, 121-125 (1993)
- 33. R.C. Ruiz, S. Jr. Favoreto, M.L. Dorta, M.E. Oshiro, A.T. Ferreira, P.M. Manque, and N. Yoshida: Infectivity of *Trypanosoma cruzi* strains is associated with differential expression of surface glycoproteins with differential Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling activity. *Biochem J* 330, 505-511 (1998)
- 34. S.N. Moreno, J. Silva, A.E. Vercesi, and R. Docampo: Cytosolic-free calcium elevation in *Trypanosoma cruzi* is required for cell invasion. *J Exp Med* 180, 1535-1540 (1994)
- 35. N. Yoshida, M.L. Dorta, A.T. Ferreira, M.E. Oshiro, R.A. Mortara, A. Acosta-Serrano, and S. Favoreto Junior: Removal of sialic acid from mucin-like surface molecules of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclic trypomastigotes enhances parasite–host cell interaction. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 84, 57-67 (1997)
- 36. S. Schenkman, M.S. Jiang, G.W. Hart, and V. Nussenzweig: A novel cell surface *trans*-sialidase of *Trypanosoma cruzi* generates a stage-specific epitope required for invasion of mammalian cells. *Cell* 65, 1117-1125 (1991)

- 37. I.C. Almeida, M.A. Ferguson, S. Schenkman and L.R. Travassos: Lytic anti-galactosyl antibodies from patients with chronic Chagas' disease recognize novel *O*-linked oligosaccharides on mucin-like glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored glycoproteins of *Trypanosoma cruzi. Biochem J* 304, 793-802 (1994)
- 38. C.A. Buscaglia, V.A. Campo, J.M. Di Noia, A.C. Torrecilhas, C.R. De Marchi, M.A. Ferguson, A.C. Frasch, and I.C. Almeida: The surface coat of the mammal-dwelling infective trypomastigote stage of *Trypanosoma cruzi* is formed by highly diverse immunogenic mucins. *J Biol Chem* 279, 15860-15869 (2004)
- 39. I.C. Almeida, and R.T. Gazzinelli: Proinflammatory activity of glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors derived from *Trypanosoma cruzi*: structural and functional analyses. *J Leuk Biol* 70, 467-477 (2001)
- 40. J.O. Previato, R. Wait, C. Jones, G.A. DosReis, A.R. Todeschini, N. Heise, and L.M. Previato: Glycoinositolphospholipid from *Trypanosoma cruzi*: structure, biosynthesis and immunobiology. *Adv Parasitol* 56, 1-41 (2004)
- 41. T. Moody, J. Ochieng, and F. Villalta: Novel mechanism that *Trypanosoma cruzi* uses to adhere to the extracellular matrix-mediated by human galectin-3. *FEBS Letters* 470, 305-308 (2000)
- 42. Y.Y. Kleshchenko, T.N. Moody, F.A. Furtak, J. Ochieng, M.F. Lima, and F. Villalta: Human galectin-3 promotes *Trypanosoma cruzi* adhesion to human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Infect Immun* 72, 6717-6721 (2004)
- 43. J.O. Previato, A.F. Andrade, M.C. Pessolani, and L. Mendonca-Previato: Incorporation of sialic acid into *Trypanosoma cruzi* macromolecules. A proposal for a new metabolic route. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 16, 85-96 (1985)
- 44. A.C. Frasch: Functional diversity in the *trans*-sialidase and mucin families in *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Parasitol Today* 16, 282–286 (2000)
- 45. M. F. Lima, and F. Villalta: Host-cell attachment by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: Identification of an adhesion molecule. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 155, 256-262 (1988)
- 46. M.F. Lima, M. F and F. Villalta: *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote clones differentially express a cell adhesion molecule. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 33, 159-170 (1989)
- 47. F. Villalta, and M.F. Lima: Purification of *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface proteins involved in adhesion to host cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 172, 925-931 (1990)

- 48. F. Villalta, M.F. Lima, L. Zhou and A. Ruiz-Ruano: Attachment of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to host cells: A monoclonal antibody recognizes a trypomastigote stage-specific epitope on the gp 83 required for parasite attachment. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 182, 6-13 (1992)
- 49. F. Villalta, C.M. Smith, J.M. Burns, Jr., G. Chaudhuri and M.F. Lima: Fab' fragments of a mAb to a member of the family 2 of trans-sialidases of *Trypanosoma cruzi* block trypanosome invasion of host cells and neutralize infection by passive immunization. *Ann NY Acad Sc* 797, 242-245 (1996)
- 50. F. Villalta, Y. Zhang, E.K. Bibb, J.M. Burns Jr., and M.F. Lima: Signal transduction in human macrophages by gp83 ligand of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: Trypomastigote gp83 ligand up regulates trypanosome entry through the MAP kinase pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 249, 247-252 (1998)
- 51. F. Villalta, Y. Zhang, E.K. Bibb, S. Pratap, J.M. Burns Jr., and M.F. Lima: Signal transduction in human macrophages by gp83 ligand of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: Trypomastigote gp83 ligand up-regulates trypanosome entry through protein kinase C activation. *Mol Cell Biol Res Commun* 2, 64-70 (1999)
- 52. P.N. Nde, K. Simmons, Y.Y. Kleshchenko, S. Pratap, M.F. Lima, and F. Villalta: Silencing of laminin gamma-1 blocks *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Infect Immun* 74, 1643-1648 (2006)
- 53. J. de Diego, C. Punzon, M. Duarte and M. Fresno: Alteration of macrophage function by a *Trypanosoma cruzi* membrane mucin. *J Immunol* 159, 4983-4989 (1997)
- 54. M.M. Camargo and I.C. Almeida, M. E. Pereira, M.A. Ferguson, L.R. Travassos, and R. T. Gazinelli: Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored mucin-like glycoproteins isolated from *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes initiate the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages. *J Immunol* 158, 5890-5901 (1997)
- 55. A. Buschiazzo, M.F. Amaya, and M.L. Cremona, A.C. Frasch, and P. M. Alzari:The crystal structure and mode of action of *trans*-sialidase, a key enzyme in *Trypanosoma cruzi* pathogenesis. *Mol Cell* 10, 757-768 (2002)
- 56. R. Agusti, G. Paris and L. Ratier, A. C. Frasch, and R. M. Lederkremer: Lactose derivatives are inhibitors of *Trypanosoma cruzi trans*-sialidase activity toward conventional substrates *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Glycobiology* 14, 659-670 (2004)
- 57. M.H. Magdesian, R. Giordano, H. Ulrich, M. A. Juliano, R. I. Schumacher, W. Colli and M.J. Alves: Infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*: identification of a parasite ligand and its host-cell receptor. *J Biol Chem* 276, 19382-19389 (2001)

- 58. C. A. Buscaglia, V. A. Campo, A. C. Frasch, and J. M. Di Noia: *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface mucins: host-dependent coat diversity. *Nature Rev Microbiol* 4, 229-236 (2006)
- 59. E. Ortega-Barria, and M. E. Pereira: A novel *Trypanosoma cruzi* heparin binding protein promotes fibroblast adhesion and penetration on engineered bacteria and trypanosomes into mammalian cells. *Cell* 67 pp. 411-421(1991)
- 60. A.J. S. Augustine, Y. Y. Kleshchenko, P. N. Nde, S. Pratap, E.A. Ager, J. M. Burns Jr., M. F. Lima, and F. Villalta: Molecular cloning of a *Trypanosoma cruzi* cell surface casein kinase II substrate, Tc-1, Involved in cellular infection. *Infect Immun* 74, 3922-3929 (2006)
- 61. R. Giordano, D. L. Fouts D.Tewari, W. Colli, J. E. Manning and M. J. Alves: Cloning of a surface membrane glycoprotein specific for the infective form of *Trypanosoma cruzi* having adhesive properties to laminin. *J Biol Chem* 274, 3461-3468 (1999)
- 62. F. Villalta, C.M. Smith, A. Ruiz-Ruano and M. F. Lima: A ligand that *Trypanosoma cruzi* uses to bind to mammalian cells to initiate infection. *FEBS Lett* 21, 384-388 (2001)
- 63. M.J. Alves, G. Abuin, V.Y. Kuwajima and W. Colli: Partial inhibition of trypomastigote entry into cultured mammalian cells by monoclonal antibodies against a surface glycoprotein of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 21, 75-82 (1986)
- 64. R. Cavallesco, and M. E. Pereira: Antibody to *Trypanosoma cruzi* neuraminidase enhances infection *in vitro* and identifies a subpopulation of trypomastigotes. *J Immunol* 140, 617-625 (1998)
- 65. R.P. Prioli, J. S. Mejia, and M. E. Pereira: Monoclonal antibodies against *Trypanosoma cruzi* neuraminidase reveal enzyme polymorphism, recognize a subset of trypomastigote, and enhance infection *in vitro*. *J Immunol* 144, 4384-4391 (1990)
- 66. M.E. Pereira, K. Zhang, and Y. Gong E. M. Herrera and M. Ming: Invasive phenotype of *Trypanosoma cruzi* restricted to a population expressing trans-sialidase. *Infect Immun* 64, 3884-3892 (1996)
- 67. T. Souto-Padron, G. Hart, and W. Souza: Immunocytochemical localization of neuraminidase in *Trypanosoma cruzi. Infect Immun* 58, 586-592 (1990)
  68. G. D. Pollevick and I. L. Affranchino, A. C. Frasch and
- 68 G. D. Pollevick and J. L. Affranchino, A. C. Frasch and D. O. Sanchez: The complete sequence of a shed acutephase antigen of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 47, 247-250 (1991)
- 69. S. Schenkman, and D. Eichinger: *Trypanosoma cruzi* trans-sialidase and cell invasion. *Parasitol Today* 9, 218-222 (1993)

- 70. R. P. F. Schenkman, F. Vandekerckhove, and S. Schenkman: Mammalian cell sialic acid enhances invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect Immun* 61, 898-902 (1993)
- 71. M. C. Ciavaglia, T.U. Carvalho, and W. Souza: Interaction of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with cells with altered glycosylation patterns. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 193, 718-721 (1993)
- 72. M. Ming, M. Chuenkova, M., E. Ortega-Barria, and M. E. Pereira: Mediation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion by sialic acid on the host cell and trans-sialidase on the trypanosome. *Mol Biochem* Parasitol 59, 243-252 (1993)
- 73. F. Villalta, and F. Kierszenbaum: Role of cell surface mannose residues in host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 736, 39-44 (1983)
- 74. F. Villalta, and F. Kierszenbaum: The effect of swainsonine on the association of *Trypanosoma cruzi* with host cells. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 16,1-10 (1985)
- 75. F. Villalta, and F. Kierszenbaum: Role of membrane N-linked oligosaccharides in host cell interaction with invasive forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 22, 109-114 (1987)
- 76. K. Ohtsuki, T. Maekawa, S. Harada, A. Karino, Y. Morikawa, and M. Ito: Biochemical characterization of HIV-1 Rev as a potent activator of casein kinase II *in vitro*. *FEBS Lett* 428, 235-240 (1998)
- 77. F. Meggio, and L. A. Pinna: One-thousand-and-one substrates of protein kinase CK2. *FASEB J* 17, 349-368 (2003)
- 78. R. Manning-Cela, A. Cortes, E. Gonzales-Rey, W. C. Van Voorhis, J. Swindle, and A. Gonzalez: LYT1 protein is required for efficient *in vitro* infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Infect Immun* 69, 3916-23 (2001)
- 79. R. Manning-Cela, A. Gonzales, and J. Swindle: Alternative splicing of LYT1 transcripts in *Trypanosoma cruzi. Infect Immun* 70, 4726-4728 (2002)
- 80. E. M. Herrera, M. Ming, E. Ortega-Barria, and M. E. Pereira: Mediation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion by heparan sulfate receptors on host cells and penetrin counter-receptors on the trypanosomes. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 65, 73-83 (1994)
- 81. A. Moro, F. Ruiz-Cabello, A. Fernandez-Cano, R. P. Stock, and A. Gonzalez: Secretion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* of a peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase involved in cell infection. *EMBO J* 14, 2483-2490 (1995)
- 82. P.J. Pereira, M.C. Vega, E. Gonzales-Rey, R. Fernandez-Carazo, S. Macedo-Ribeiro, F. X. Gomis-Ruth, A. Gonzalez, and M. Coll: *Trypanosoma cruzi* macrophage infectivity potentiator has a rotamase core and a highly exposed alpha-helix. *EMBO Reports* 3, 88-94 (2002)

- 83. A.M. Silber, I.S. Marcipar, C. Roodveldt, P. Cabeza Meckert, R. Laguens and A.J. Marcipar: *Trypanosoma cruzi*: identification of a galactose-binding protein that binds to cell surface of human erythrocytes and is involved in cell invasion by the parasite. *Exp Parasitol* 100, 217-225 (2002)
- 84. J. M. Santana, P. Grellier, J. Schrevel and A. R. Teixeira: A *Trypanosoma cruzi*-secreted 80 kDa proteinase with specificity for human collagen types I and IV. *Biochem J* 325, 129-137 (1997)
- 85. P. Grellier, S. Vendeville, R. Joyeau I. M. Bastos, H. Drobecq, F. Frappier, A. R. Teixeira, J. Schrevel, E. Davioud-Charvet, C. Sergheraert and J.M Santana: *Trypanosoma cruzi* prolyl oligopeptidase Tc80 is involved in nonphagocytic mammalian cell invasion by trypomastigotes. *J Biol Chem* 276, 47078-47080 (2001)
- 86. I. M. Bastos, P. Grellier, N. F. Martins, G. Cadavid-Restrepo, M. R. de Souza-Alt, K. Augustyns, A. R. Teixeira, J. Schrevel, B. Maigret, J. F. da Silveira, and J. M. Santana: Molecular, functional and structural properties of the prolyl oligopeptidase of *Trypanosoma cruzi* (POP Tc80) that is required for parasite entry into mammalian cells. *Biochem J* 388, 29-38 (2005)
- 87. A.C. Murta, P.M. Persechini, T.S. Padron, W. de Souza, J. A. Guimaraes, and J. Scharfstein: Structural and functional identification of gp57/51 antigen of *Trypanosoma cruzi* as a cysteine proteinase. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 43, 27-38 (1990)
- 88. C.N. Paiva, T. Souto-Padron, D.A. Costa and C. R. Gattass: High expression of a functional cruzipain by a non-infective and non-pathogenic *Trypanosoma cruzi* clone. *Parasitol* 117, 483-490 (1998)
- 89. M.N. Meirelles, L. Julian, E. Carmona, S. G. Silva, E. M Costa, A. C. Murta and J. Scharfstein: Inhibitors of the major cysteinyl proteinase (gp57/51) impair host cell invasion and arrest the intracellular development of *Trypanosoma cruzi in vivo*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 52, 175-184 (1992)
- 90. J.C. Engel, O.S. Doyle and I. Hsieh and J. H. McKerrow: Cysteine protease inhibitors cure an experimental *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J Exp Med* 188, 725-734 (1998)
- 91. G. Hart, N. Andrews, A. A. Mills. J. C. Engel, R. Smith, and J.H. McKerrow: Peptide-fluoromethyl ketones arrest intracellular replication and intercellular transmission of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 58, 17-24 (1993)
- 92. J. Scharfstein, V. Schmitz, V. Morandi, M. M. Capella, A. P. Lima, A. Morrot, L. Juliano, and W. Muller-Esterl: Host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* is potentiated by activation of bradykinin B<sub>2</sub> receptors. *J Exp Med* 192,1289-1299 (2000)

- 93. A.G. Todorov, D. Andrade, J.B. Pesquero, R de Araujo, M. Bader, J. Stewart, L. Gera, W. Muller-Esterl, V. Morandi, R. C. Goldenberg, H. C. Neto, and J. Scharfstein: *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces edematogenic responses in mice and invades cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells *in vitro* by activating distinct kinin receptor (B1/B2) subtypes. *FASEB J* 17, 73-75 (2003)
- 94. A. C. Monteiro, M. Abrahamson, A. P. Lima, M.A. Vannier-Santos, and J. Scharfstein: Identification, characterization and localization of chagasin, a tight-binding cysteine protease inhibitor in *Trypanosoma cruzi. J Cell Sci* 114, 3933-3942 (2001)
- 95. B. Burleigh, and N. Andrews: A 120-kDa alkaline peptidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* is involved in the generation of a novel Ca<sup>2+</sup>-signaling factor for mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* 270, 5172-5180 (1995)
- 96. B. Burleigh, E.V. Caler, P. Webster and N. Andrews: A cytosolic serine endopeptidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi* is required for the generation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling in mammalian cells. *J Cell Biol* 136, 609-620 (1997)
- 97. E.V. Caler, S. Vaena de Avalos, P.A. Haynes, N. Andrews and B. Burleigh: Oligopeptidase B-dependent signaling mediates host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *EMBO J* 17, 4975-4986 (1998)
- 98. I.C. Cuevas, J.J. Cazzulo and D.O. Sanchez: gp63 homologues in *Trypanosoma cruzi*: surface antigens with metalloprotease activity and a possible role in host cell infection. *Infect Immun* 71, 5739-5749 (2003)
- 99. M.A. Ouaissi, J. Cornette and A. Capron: Identification and isolation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote cell surface protein with properties expected of a fibronectin receptor. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 19, 201-211 (1986)
- 100. E.L. Noisin, and F. Villalta: Fibronectin increases *Trypanosoma cruzi* amastigote binding to and uptake by murine and human monocytes. *Infect Immun* 57, 1030-1034 (1989)
- 101. J.J. Cazzulo, V. Stoka and V. Turk: Cruzipain, the major cysteine proteinase from the protozoan parasite *Trypanosoma cruzi*. J *Biol Chem* 378, 1-10 (1997)
- 102. F. Villalta, A. Ruiz-Ruano, A.A. Valentine and M.F. Lima: Purification of a surface 74 kDa glycoprotein from heart myoblasts that inhibits the binding and entry of *Trypanosoma cruzi* into heart cells. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 61, 217-230 (1993)
- 103. K. Kasai, and J. Hirabayashi: Galectins: A Family of Animal Lectins That Decipher Glycocodes. *J Biochem* 119, 1-8 (1996)
- 104. F.T. Liu, and G.A. Rabinovich: Galectins as modulators of tumor progression. *Nat Rev Cancer* 5, 29-41 (2005)
- 105. G. A. Rabinovich, L. G. Baum, N. Tinari, R.

- Paganelli, C. Natoli, F. T. Liu, and S. Iacobelli: Galectins and their ligands: amplifiers, silencers or tuners of the inflammatory response. *Trends Immunol* 23, 313-320 (2002)
- 106. W.A. Petri, T.L. Snodgrass, T.F. Jackson, V. Gathiram, A. E. Simjee, K. Chadee and M. D. Chapman: Monoclonal antibodies directed against the galactose-binding lectin of *Entamoeba histolytica* enhance adherence. *J Immunol* 144, 4803-4809 (1990)
- 107. E.V. Acosta-Rodríguez, C.L. Montes, C.C. Motrán, E.I. Zuniga, F.T. Liu, G.A.Rabinovich, and A. Gruppi: Galectin-3 mediates IL-4-induced survival and differentiation of B cells: functional cross-talk and implications during *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J Immunol* 172, 493-502 (2004)
- 108. B. Vray, I. Camby, V. Vercruysse, T. Mijatovic, N.V. Bovin, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, H. Kaltner, I. Salmon, H.J. Gabius, and R. Kiss: Up-regulation of galectin-3 and its ligands by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection with modulation of adhesion and migration of murine dendritic cells. *Glycobiology* 7, 647-657 (2004)
- 109. H. Sano, D.K. Hsu, L. Yu, J.R. Apgar, I. Kuwabara, T. Yamanaka, M. Hirashima, and F.T. Liu: Human galectin-3 is a novel chemoattractant for monocytes and macrophages. *J Immunol* 165, 2156-2164 (2000)
- 110. S. Sato, and R. C: Hughes: Regulation of secretion and surface expression of Mac-2, a galactoside-binding protein of macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 269, 4424-4430 (1994)
- 111. S.B. Petkova, H. Huang, S.M. Factor, R.G. Pestell, B. Bouzahzah, L.S. Jelicks, L.M. Weiss, S.A. Douglas, M. Wittner, and H.B. Tanowitz: The role of endothelin in the pathogenesis of Chagas' disease. *Int J Parasitol* 31, 499-511 (2001)
- 112. T. Sasaki, R. Fassler, and E. Hohenester: Laminin: the crux of basement membrane assembly. *J Cell Biol* 164, 959-963 (2004)
- 113. J. Milei, J. Sánchez, R. Storino, Z.X. Yu, B. Denduchis, and V.J. Ferrans: Antibodies to laminin and immunohistochemical localization of laminin in chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy: a review. *Mol Cell Biochem* 129, 161-170 (1993)
- 114. K.J. Simmons, P.N. Nde, Y.Y. Kleshchenko, M.F. Lima, and F. Villalta: Stable RNA interference of host thrombospondin-1 blocks *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *FEBS Lett* 580, 2365-2370 (2006)
- 115. J. Lawler: The functions of thrombospondin-1 and -2. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 12, 634-640 (2000)
- 116. K. Jurk, K.J. Clemetson, P.G. de Groot, M.F. Brodde, M. Steiner, N. Savion, D. Varon, J.J. Sixma, H. Van Aken,

- and B.E. Kehrel: Thrombospondin-1 mediates platelet adhesion at high shear via glycoprotein Ib (GPIb): an alternative/backup mechanism to von Willebrand factor. *FASEB J* 17, 1490-1492 (2003)
- 117. H. Ulrich, M.H. Magdesian, M.J. Alves, and W. Colli: *In vitro* selection of RNA aptamers that bind to cell adhesion receptors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and inhibit cell invasion *J Biol Chem* 277, 20756-20762 (2002)
- 118. Y. Mimura, H. Ihn, M. Jinnin, Y. Asano, K. Yamane, and K. Tamaki: Constitutive thrombospondin-1 overexpression contributes to autocrine transforming growth factor-beta signaling in cultured scleroderma fibroblasts. *Am J Pathol* 166, 1451-1463 (2005)
- 119. T. Nakagawa, J.H. Li, G. Garcia, W. Mu, E. Piek, E.P. Böttinger, Y. Chen, H.J. Zhu, D.H. Kang, G.F. Schreiner, H.Y. Lan, and R.J. Johnson: TGF-Beta induces proangiogenic and antiangiogenic factors via parallel but distinct Smad pathways. *Kidney Int* 66, 605-613 (2004)
- 120. M. Ming, M.E. Ewen, and M.E. Pereira: Trypanosome invasion of mammalian cells requires activation of the TGF-beta signaling pathway. *Cell* 82, 287-296 (1995)
- 121. R.T. Pinho, M.A. Vannier-Santos, C.R. Alves, A.P. Marino, L.R. Castello Branco, and J. Lannes-Vieira: Effect of *Trypanosoma cruzi* released antigens binding to non-infected cells on anti-parasite antibody recognition and expression of extracellular matrix components. *Acta Trop* 83, 103-115 (2002)
- 122. M.A. Ouaissi, J. Cornette, and A. Capron: Identification and isolation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigote cell surface protein with properties expected of a fibronectin receptor. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* 19, 201-211 (1986)
- 123. M.C. Taylor, and J.M. Kelly: pTcINDEX: a stable tetracycline-regulated expression vector for *Trypanosoma cruzi. BMC Biotechnology* 6, 32 (2006)
- 124. S. Vaena de Avalos, I.J. Blader, M. Fisher, J.C. Boothroyd, and B.A. Burleigh: Immediate/early response to *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection involves minimal modulation of host cell transcription. *J Biol Chem* 277, 639-644 (2002)
- 125. S. Mukherjee, T.J. Belbin, D.C. Spray, D.A. Iacobas, L.M. Weiss, R.N. Kitsis, M. Wittner, L.A. Jelicks, P.E. Scherer, A. Ding, and H.B. Tanowitz: Microarray analysis of changes in gene expression in a murine model of chronic chagasic cardiomyopathy. *Parasitol Res* 91, 187-196 (2003)
- 126. S.E. Graefe, T. Streichert, B.S. Budde, P. Nürnberg, C. Steeg, B. Müller-Myhsok, and B. Fleischer: Genes from Chagas susceptibility loci that are differentially expressed in *T. cruzi*-resistant mice are candidates accounting for impaired immunity. *PLoS ONE* 1, e57 (2006)
- 127. T. A. Minning, J. Bua, G. A. Garcia, R. A. McGraw, and R. L. Tarleton: Microarray profiling of gene expression

- during trypomastigote to amastigote transition in *Trypanosoma cruzi. Mol Biochem Parasitol* 131, 55-64 (2003)
- 128. C. S. Baptista, R. Z. Vencio, S. Abdala, Valadares, M. P., C. Martins, C. A. de Braganca Pereira, and B. Zingales: DNA microarrays for comparative genomics and analysis of gene expression in *Trypanosoma cruzi. Mol Biochem Parasitol* 138, 183-94 (2004)
- 129. B.A. Burleigh: Host cell signaling and *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion: do all roads lead to lysosomes? *Sci. STKE* 2005 (2005), pp. 36-40.
- 130. L. O. Andrade, and N, Andrews: The *Trypanosoma cruzi*-host-cell interplay: location, invasion, retention. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 3, 819-823 (2005)
- 131. H. B. Tanowitz, M. Wittner, M. Kress and B. Bloom: Studies of *in vitro* infection by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. I. Ultrastructural studies on the invasion of macrophages and L-cells. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 24, 25–36 (1975)
- 132. N. Nogueira, and Z. Cohn: *Trypanosoma cruzi*: mechanism of entry and intracellular fate in mammalian cells. *J Exp Med* 143, 1402-1420 (1976)
- 133. S. Schenkman, E.S. Robbins, and V. Nussenzweig: Attachment of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to mammalian cells requires parasite energy, and invasion can be independent of the target cell cytoskeleton. *Infect Immun* 59, 645-654 (1991)
- 134. I. Tardieux, P. Webster, J. Ravesloot, W. Boron, J.A. Lunn, J.E. Heuser, and N.W. Andrews: Lysosome recruitment and fusion are early events required for trypanosome invasion of mammalian cells. *Cell* 71, 1117-1130 (1992)
- 135. I. Tardieux, M.H. Nathanson, and N.W. Andrews: Role in host cell invasion of *Trypanosoma cruzi*-induced cytosolic-free Ca<sup>2+</sup> transients. *J Exp Med* 179, 1017-1022 (1994)
- 136. E.V. Caler, S. Vaena de Avalos, P.A. Haynes, N. W. Andrews, and B. A. Burleigh: Oligopeptidase B-dependent signaling mediates host cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. EMBO J* 17, 4975-4986 (1998)
- 137. A. Rodríguez, I. Martinez A. Chung, C. H. Berlot, and N. W. Andrews: cAMP regulates Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent exocytosis of lysosomes and lysosome-mediated cell invasion by trypanosomes. *J Biol Chem* 274, 16754-16759 (1999)
- 138. S. Schenkman, and R. Mortara: HeLa cells extend and internalize pseudopodia during active invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi* trypomastigotes. *J Cell Sci* 101, 895-905 (1992)
- 139. A.M. Woolsey, L. Sunwoo, C.A. Petersen, S.M.

- Brachmann, L.C. Cantley, and B.A. Burleigh: Novel PI 3-kinase-dependent mechanisms of trypanosome invasion and vacuole maturation. *J Cell Sci* 116, 3611-3622 (2003)
- 140. A.M. Woolsey, and B.A. Burleigh: Host cell actin polymerization is required for cellular retention of *Trypanosoma cruzi* and early association with endosomal/lysosomal compartments. *Cell Microbiol* 6, 829-838 (2004)
- 141. L.O. Andrade, and N.W. Andrews: Lysosomal fusion is essential for the retention of *Trypanosoma cruzi* inside host cells. *J Exp Med* 200, 1135-1143 (2004)
- 142. S.C. Barr, W. Han, N.W. Andrews, J.W. Lopez, B.A. Ball, T.L. Pannabecker, and R.F. Jr. Gilmour: A factor from *Trypanosoma cruzi* induces repetitive cytosolic free Ca<sup>2+</sup> transients in isolated primary canine cardiac myocytes. *Infect Immun* 64, 1770-1777 (1996)
- 143. A. Rodriguez, M.G. Rioult, A. Ora, and N.W. Andrews: A trypanosome-soluble factor induces  $IP_3$  formation, intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  mobilization and microfilament rearrangement in host cells. *J Cell Biol* 129, 1263-1273 (1995)
- 144. A. Rodriguez, E. Samoff, M.G. Rioult, A. Chung, and N.W. Andrews: Host cell invasion by trypanosomes requires lysosomes and microtubule/kinesin-mediated transport. *J Cell Biol* 134, 349-362 (1996)
- 145. J. K. Jaiswal, N.W. Andrews, and S.M. Simon: Membrane proximal lysosomes are the major vesicles responsible for calcium-dependent exocytosis in nonsecretory cells. *J Cell Biol* 159, 625-635 (2002)
- 146. A. Rodriguez, P. Webster, J. Ortego, and N.W. Andrews: Lysosomes behave as  $Ca^{2+}$ -regulated exocytic vesicles in fibroblasts and epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol* 137, 93-104 (1997)
- 147. E.V. Caler, S. Chakrabarti, K.T. Fowler, S. Rao, and N.W. Andrews: The exocytosis-regulatory protein sinaptotagmin VII mediates cell invasion by *Trypanosoma cruzi. J Exp Med* 193, 1097-1104 (2001)
- 148. S.E. Wilkowsky, M.A. Barbieri, P. Stahl and E.L. Isola: Regulation of *Trypanosoma cruzi* invasion of nonphagocytic cells by the endocytically active GTPases dynamin, Rab5, and Rab7. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 291, 516-521 (2002)
- 149. A.G. Todorov, M. Einicker-Lamas, S.L. Castro, M. M. Oliveira, and A. Guilherme: Activation of host cell phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases by *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J Biol Chem* 275, 32182-32186 (2000)
- 150. S.E. Wilkowsky, M.A. Barbieri, P. Stahl, and E.L. Isola: *Trypanosoma cruzi* phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and protein kinase B activation is associated with parasite invasion. *Exp Cell Res* 264, 211-218 (2001)

- 151. S. Mukherjee, H. Huang, S.B. Petkova, C. Albanase, R.G. Pestell, V.L. Braunstein, G.J. Christ, M. Wittner, M.P. Lisanti, J.W. Berman, L.M. Weis, and H.B. Tanowitz: *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection activates extracellular signal-regulated kinase in cultured endothelial and smooth muscle cells. *Infect Immun* 72, 5274-5282 (2004)
- 152. S. Jr. Favoreto, M.L. Dorta, and N. Yoshida: *Trypanosoma cruzi* 175 kDa protein tyrosine phosphorylation is associated with host cell invasion. *Exp Parasitol* 89, 188-194 (1998)
- 153. P. Scudderm, J.P. Doom, M. Chuenkova, I.D. Manger, and M.E. Pereira: Enzymatic characterization of beta-D-galactosidase alpha 2,3-trans-sialidase from *Trypanosoma cruzi. J Biol Chem* 268, 9886-9891 (1993)
- 154. M.V. Chuenkova, and M.A. Pereira: A trypanosomal protein synergizes with the cytokines ciliary neurotropic factor and leukemia inhibitory factor to prevent apoptosis of neural cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 11, 1487-1498 (2000)
- 155. M. V. Chuenkova, and M. PereiraPerrin: Chagas' disease parasite promotes neuron survival and differentiation through TrkA nerve growth factor receptor. *J Neurochem* 91, 385-394 (2004)
- 156. M. de Melo-Jorge, and M. PereiraPerrin: The Chagas' disease parasite *Trypanosoma cruzi* exploits nerve growth factor receptor TrkA to infect mammalian hosts. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 251-261 (2007)

**Abbreviations:** TS: trans-sialidases; GPI: glycosylphosphatidylinositol; TcMUC: T. cruzi mucins; MASPs: mucin associated surface proteins; TcSMUG: T. cruzi small mucin-like gene family; tGPI-mucins: GPImucins from cell derived trypomastigotes; Ssp-3: sialic acid containing epitope; PI-PLC: phosphotidylinositol-phospholipase C; SAPA: shed acute phase antigen; PKC: protein kinase C; MAP: mitogen activated protein; CKII: casein kinase II; Tc-1: T. cruzi CKII substrate; LYT1: lytic pathway protein; NLS: nuclear localization signal; CHO: Chinese hamster ovary cells; POP: prolyl oligopeptidase; B<sub>2</sub>R: B type bradykinin receptor; HUVEC: human umbilical vein endothelial cell; CMP-sialic acid: cytidine monophospho-sialic acid; MGTA: DL-2-Mercaptomethyl-3-guanidinoethylthiopropanoic acid; IP: inositol phosphate; HCASM: human coronary artery smooth muscle; RNAi: RNA interference; ECM: extracellular matrix; TSP-1: thrombospondin- 1; TGF Beta-1: transforming growth factor beta-1; PI-3 kinase: phosphoinositide-3-kinase; NGF: nerve growth factor

**Key Words:** *Trypanosoma cruzi*, Chagas disease, Host cell invasion, *T. cruzi* ligands, *T. cruzi* receptors, Proteases, Cell signaling, Laminin gamma-1, Thrombospondin-1, Transsialidase, Trans-sialidase-like molecules, Mucins, Galectin-3, Casein kinase II substrate, Genetic tools, Review

**Send correspondence to:** Fernando Villalta, Ph.D., Department of Microbial Pathogenesis and Immune Response, School of Medicine, Meharry Medical College,

1005 Dr. D.B. Todd Jr. Blvd., Nashville, TN 37208-3599, Tel: 615-327-6667, Fax: 615-327-6072, E-mail: fvillalta@mmc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm